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Corporate Profile
GobiMin Inc., together with its subsidiaries, is engaged in the development and
exploration of mineral properties, mainly in the Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous
Region (“Xinjiang”) of the People’s Republic of China (“China”).
GobiMin holds an equity interest of 70% in a company incorporated in China
to explore, develop and operate the Sawayaerdun Gold Project located in
Xinjiang.
GobiMin also holds an equity interest of 48.02% in China Precision
Material Limited (“China Precision”), which is principally engaged in
metal trading, predominately silver, and operates a small processing
workshop.

OUR VISION IS
TO MAXIMIZE
SHAREHOLDER
VALUE

In addition, GobiMin owns 40-50% equity interests in four companies
incorporated in China to engage in base metals and precious metal
exploration, including nickel, copper and gold, in Xinjiang, and an 8%
equity interest in the Yanxi Copper Property.
GobiMin is and will be in a solid financial position to develop its
existing and potential projects.
GobiMin’s common shares are traded on the TSX-Venture
Exchange under the symbol GMN.

Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
Thursday, June 6, 2013, 4 pm ET
Sheraton Centre Toronto Hotel
Norfolk Room, Mezzanine Level
123 Queen Street West

(Expressed in United States Dollars except where
otherwise stated)

Toronto, Ontario, M5H 2M9, Canada

CONTENTS
Corporate Profile

IFC

Highlights

01

Message to Shareholders

02

Exploration, Development and Operation

03

Management’s Discussion & Analysis
of Financial Results
Independent Auditor’s Report

06
20

Consolidated Financial Statements

21

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

25

Corporate Information

IBC

Highlights
IN EARLY 2013

2012 REVIEW
• Completed drilling programs of 68 holes for an
aggregate depth of 31,000 m for the Sawayaerdun
Gold Project

• Released drilling results in March 2013 and updated
resource estimate in May 2013 for the Sawayaerdun
Gold Project

• Obtained Yanxi Mining Licence and received
accumulated payment of $38.7 million for the
disposal of the Yanxi Copper Property leaving an
outstanding balance of $5.4 million

• Renewed the normal course issuer bid to repurchase
up to a maximum of 2,973,324 common shares
• Declared an annual dividend of CAD0.01 per share for
2012

• Recorded gain of $0.5 million from the silver
operation
• Repurchased 3,129,814 common shares under
a normal course issuer bid at an average price of
CAD0.641 per share

PLANS fOR 2013
• Complete the final drilling program of the
Sawayaerdun Gold Project
Target drilling of the remaining 12,000 meters
• Continue the fundamental construction of
the Sawayaerdun Gold Project
The fundamental works include camp facilities,
access roads, mine development and tailing
ponds planning
• Proceed to apply for mining licence of the
New Area adjacent to the Yanxi Copper
Property
Target to complete the application and
obtain the mining licence in the year 2014
• Continue other exploration programs in
Xinjiang
Continue the existing and potential exploration
projects through exploration companies in
Xinjiang

• Paid an annual dividend of CAD0.01 per share for
2011
• Good financial position with cash and cash equivalents
of $46.6 million as at December 31, 2012

Cash and Cash Equivalents
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Message to Shareholders
Dear Shareholders,
GobiMin finished a year with significant progress and
results with completion of our disposal of Yanxi Copper
Property, completion of 31,000 m drilling program of the
Sawayaerdun Gold Project and trading volume of 138
tonnes by the silver business.
Following the successful completion of the disposal of 32%
equity interest of the Yanxi Copper Property which recorded
fruitful gain in 2012, we are in a strong financial position
to support our exploration projects and silver business.
The story of the Yanxi Copper Property has not ended
yet. In December 2012, we have received $5.4 million
of the additional consideration for the new area adjacent
to the Yanxi Copper Property whereas the buyer withheld
the remaining consideration of $5.4 million to settle the
fee for obtaining the mining licence of the new area. The
Company may record a further gain after the mining licence
application is completed.
The update on NI 43-101 resource estimates on the
Sawayaerdun Gold Project for 2012 has been released
in May 2013. We are delighted to see certain quantity of
resource has been upgraded to measured category and
the grade has been enhanced accordingly. Throughout the
year, we progressively moved forward with all off-site and
on-site construction works and exploration program which
form a critical fundamental base for mine development and
operation in the future. These initiatives included camp
facility, road access to mine site and 31,000 meters drilling
works.
Our silver trading and processing operation maintains
steady profit contribution to the Group. In order to cope
with our growing business, we are planning to expand our
silver trading and processing operation in 2013.
With robust financial position and sound projects on hand,
we are off to a good start in 2013. In March 2013, we have
acquired an office property in Hong Kong by utilization
part of our own surplus cash. Due to the rising trend of
rental prices, the acquisition provides the Group savings
on future office rental expenses and securing sufficient
office space to cater for our future expansion. Looking
ahead, our sight remains firmly fixed on accelerating the
construction process of Sawayaerdun Gold Project and

PAGE

02

GobiMin Inc.

Annual Report 2012

bringing the project into production as soon as possible.
Given the size of the proper t y, we may consider to
co-operate with major gold producers to put Sawayaerdun
Gold Project into production. On the other hand, we will
keep on searching for high potential projects and disposing
of those projects for which the disposal gain would outweight the long term development after further exploration.
This strategy has proven very effective as we have realized
substantial profits over the years which sustain our
long term exploration programs and bring value to our
shareholders.
I would like to sincerely thank our management and staff for
their dedication and hard work. Thanks are also extended
to our loyal shareholders whose support and confidence in
us over the past years have helped us turn the corner and
move forward.

Felipe Tan
Chairman, President and CEO
May 16, 2013

Exploration, Development and Operation
SAWAYAERDUN（薩瓦亞爾頓）
GOLD PROJECT - Xinjiang, China
PROJECT BACKGROUND AND LOCATION
GobiMin, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, holds a
70% equity interest in Xinjiang Tongyuan Minerals Ltd.
(“Tongyuan”) while two local partners each hold a 15%
interest, for the development of the Sawayaerdun Gold
Project in Xinjiang, China. GobiMin is operating and
managing the Sawayaerdun Gold Project through Tongyuan
which has obtained the mining licence of the Zone IV and
Zone I mine site covering an area of 1.7094 km2.

1.24

Average grade

million
ounces of gold in
M&I resources

1.90g/t

Sawayaerdun
Gold Project

Urumqi

The property is centered at about 40º 05' North Latitude
and 74 o 18’ East Longitude. The Sawayaerdun Gold
Project lies within the Tian Shan Gold Belt, one of the
most promising gold belts in China.

Wuqia

Hami City

XINJIANG

The Sawayaerdun Gold Project is located 200 km
northwest of the city of Kashi, western Xinjiang, China.
The property is accessible from Kashi via Wuqia (烏恰)
to Wulukeqiati (烏魯克恰提) by 200 km of paved road
and then 38 km by highway from Wulukeqiati. Adequate
water supply from the Sawayaerdun River is available to
the property.

NI 43-101 RESOURCE ESTIMATE
In May 2013, GobiMin announced an updated NI 43-101
compliant resource estimate on Zone IV and Zone I of
the Sawayaerdun Gold Project according to a NI 43-101
report prepared by Qualified Persons as defined in NI 43101, Mr. Neil Gow and Mr. Reno Pressacco in May 2013.
The full report can be viewed at www.sedar.com and
GobiMin’s website www.gobimin.com. The drilling in 2012
has increased the confidence in the mineral resource
estimate at the Sawayaerdun property with a certain
quantity of the resource upgraded to the measured
category and the grade has been enhanced accordingly.

NI 43-101 RESOURCE ESTIMATE IN 2013
Gold Grade

MEASURED
& INDICATED

Million
Tonnes

Grams/Tonne

Zone IV

20.34

1.90

*1 Troy Ounce: 31.10348 grams

Gold Content
1,000
Tonnes
Ounces*
38.69

1,244

Gold Grade

Gold Content
1,000
Tonnes
Ounces*

INfERRED

Million
Tonnes

Grams/Tonne

Zone IV

26.20

1.46

38.26

1,230

Zone I

7.04

1.50

10.58

340

33.24

1.47

48.83

1,570

Notes:
Total
1. CIM definitions were followed for Mineral Resources.
2. Mineral Resources are estimated at a cut-off grade of 1.0 g/t Au.
3.
Mineral
Resources
are estimated
using a long-term gold price of US$1,650 per ounce.
*1 Troy
Ounce
= 31.10348
grams
4. A minimum mining width of 1.5 m was used.
3
5. Bulk density is 2.8 t/m .
6. Numbers may not add due to rounding.
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Exploration, Development and Operation

drilling WORKS COMPLETED IN 2012

68 drill holes for

31,000

meters

PROPERTY GEOLOGY
The Lower Carboniferous Bashisuogong Formation
which includes clastic units and limestones overlies
the Sawayaerdun Formation. Each of the units on the
Sawayaerdun Property strike northeast and most dips
are to the northwest. Schistosity is developed parallel
to bedding. The contacts between the various units are
structural.

DRILLING AND UPDATE
Diamond drilling was continued in 2012 when a further
68 holes for an aggregate depth of 31,000 m were
completed. Drilling was carried out by No. 2 Brigade
using a number of machines. Core size was 48 mm.
Holes were drilled to test both Zone IV and Zone I. The
main purpose of the drilling was to fill in the drill pattern
to allow a closer drill intercept spacing to be achieved

and confirm the continuity of the mineralization.
The completed construction works include 12 km roads
to facilitate the exploration and mining in the future, and
the four main blocks of the site office.

PRELIMINARY WORK SChEDULE
2013

Exploration

2013-4

Mine Development

2015

Production

Continue major exploration works including 12,000 meters drilling and relating adit works
Continue the underground mining construction and relating facilities including tailing
ponds, access roads and camp facilities
Commence trial and commercial production

OTHER EXPLORATION COMPANIES
Among the projects of the four exploration companies,
two projects located in Nileke and Hejing showed good
indication of copper mineralization. Exploration works
on these projects will be continued. New exploration
company(s) may be formed in cooperation with local
partners for other potential exploration projects.

Urumqi

Nileke
Multi-Minerals Hejing Copper
Exploration
Exploration
Project
Projects
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Hami City

Wuqia

XINJIANG

Exploration, Development and Operation
YANXI COPPER PROPERTY
- XINJIANG, ChINA
The Yanxi Copper Property is held by Xinjiang Tongxing
Minerals Limited (“Tongxing”). GobiMin presently owns
an 8% equity interest in Tongxing while 80% are owned
by a Hong Kong listed company and the remaining 12%
are owned by two other local Chinese companies.

SILVER BUSINESS
GobiMin owned an equity interest of 48.02% in China
Precision which is mainly engaged in metal trading,
predominately silver.
In addition to supplying silver bars and ingots to banks
and traders, China Precision has established a small
processing workshop in Hong Kong for processing the
silver into other forms of bars and granules, and sell to
the industrial customers.
Month

Events and Achievements

March

- China Precision established with
registered capital of $1,300
(hK$10,000)

December

- Silver Trading Volume: 25 Tonnes
- Net Profit for the Year: $140,000

August

- Started a processing workshop in
hong Kong

December

- Silver Trading Volume: 42 Tonnes
- Net Profit for the Year: $200,000
(hK$1.54 million)

2011

December

- Increased the registered capital to
$1.29 million (hK$10 million)
- Silver Trading Volume: 120 Tonnes
- Net Profit for the Year: $1.1 million
(hK$8.2 million)

2012

December

- Silver Trading Volume: 138 Tonnes
- Net Profit for the Year: $1.1 million
(hK$8.3 million)

Year

2009

2010

The Yanxi Copper Property is located about 115 km
southwest of Hami, a city in the eastern part of Xinjiang,
China. Its exploration licence covers an area of 21.67
km 2. The Property is centered at about 92º28’ East
Longitude and 42º 05’ North Latitude and has a fairly
good accessibility by main routes and highways.

Silver Trading
Volume of 2012

138 Tonnes

Our CEO, Mr. Felipe Tan,
speaking at the First
Annual Chinese Gold
and Silver Exchange
Society’s International
(Silver) Conference held
in Hong Kong.

PAGE

GobiMin Inc.

Annual Report 2012

05

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Results
For the year ended December 31, 2012 (Expressed in United States Dollars)
May 16, 2013

The following discussion and analysis of the consolidated operating results and financial condition of GobiMin Inc. for the year
ended December 31, 2012 was prepared on May 16, 2013 and should be read in conjunction with its audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2012. The financial information was prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). Additional information relating to the Company is available on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com
and the Company website at www.gobimin.com.
Certain statements included in this discussion constitute forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements can often,
but not always, be identified by the use of words such as “can”, “could”, “believe”, “propose”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “consider”,
“estimate”, “expect”, or other variations of such expressions, or forward-looking statements may declare that certain measures, events
or results “can”, “could” or “will” be taken or occur or be attained. Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown
risks and uncertainties as well as other factors that could cause actual results, performances or achievements of the Company to
differ materially from the future results, performances or achievements implied or suggested in such forward-looking statements. Such
risks, uncertainties and other factors include but are not limited to the risk factors discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” below.
Accordingly, shareholders are cautioned not to put undue reliance on forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements
are made as of the date of this discussion and the Company disclaims any obligations to update any forward-looking statements
in order to account for any events or circumstances that might occur after the date that such forward-looking statements were
established.

1. Corporate Overview
GobiMin Inc. (the “Company” or “GobiMin”), together with its subsidiaries (collectively referred to herein as the “Group”), is engaged
in the development and exploration of mineral properties, mainly in the Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region (“Xinjiang”) of the People’s
Republic of China (“China”).
GobiMin holds an equity interest of 70% in a company incorporated in China to explore, develop and operate the Sawayaerdun Gold
Project (the “Gold Project”) located in Xinjiang.
GobiMin also holds an equity interest of 48.02% in China Precision Material Limited (“China Precision”), a company incorporated in
Hong Kong, which is principally engaged in metal trading, predominately silver and operates a small processing workshop.
In addition, GobiMin owns 40-50% equity interests in four companies incorporated in China to engage in base metals and precious
metal exploration, including nickel, copper, and gold, in Xinjiang, and an 8% equity interest in the Yanxi Copper Property (the “Yanxi
Copper Property”).
Group Chart with major subsidiaries and associates as at May 16, 2013 is as follow:

GobiMin Inc.
Canada

100%

100%

GobiMin Investments Limited
BVI
Investment holding
100%

GobiMin Silver Limited
Investment holding

Alexis Resources Limited
Investment holding

100%

BVI

Topmax Development Limited
BVI
Investment holding

100%

GobiMin Mineral Limited
HK
Property holding

100%

100%

Wreford Enterprises Limited
BVI
Investment holding

100%

Fine Asia Development Limited
HK
Provision of business services

BVI

Alexis Investments Limited
HK
Investment holding

100%

100%

Karon Limited
Investment holding

HK

Xinjiang Weifu Mining Limited
新疆偉福礦業有限公司
China
Investment holding
70%

100%
48.02%

China Precision Material Limited
HK
Trading of silver

Xinjiang Gebi Mining Limited*
新疆戈壁曠業有限公司
China
Property holding and leasing

Xinjiang Tongyuan Minerals Ltd.*
新疆同源礦業有限公司
Exploration and development of
gold property

100%

50%

CPM Silver Limited
Processing of silver

HK

100%

United Bridge Limited
Property holding

China

Xinjiang Tongde Minerals Ltd.*
新疆同德礦業有限責任公司
China
Exploration of mineral resources

Xinjiang Xinya Minerals Ltd.*
新疆興亞礦業有限責任公司
40%

Exploration of mineral resources

China
40%

HK

Xinjiang Tongan Minerals Ltd.*
新疆同安礦業有限公司
China
Exploration of mineral resources

Xinjiang Tianhong Minerals Ltd.*
新疆天宏礦業有限責任公司
40%

Exploration of mineral resources

China
8%

HK:
Hong Kong
BVI:
British Virgin Islands
*unofficial English name translated from Chinese registered name of the company.
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Xinjiang Tongxing Minerals Ltd.*
新疆同興礦業有限責任公司
Exploration and development of
copper property

China

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Results

For the year ended December 31, 2012 (Expressed in United States Dollars)
May 16, 2013

2.	Highlights
(a) Financial Highlights
		(Restated)
As at / For the year ended
December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
Revenue
Other revenue
Share of results of associates and a jointly-controlled entity
Gain on disposal of an associate
Change in fair value of other financial assets
Profit/(loss) for the year
EBITDA/(LBITDA)(1)
Basic earnings/(losses) per share
Diluted earnings/(losses) per share
EBITDA/(LBITDA) per share(1)
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents per share(1)
Working capital
Total non-current financial liabilities
Total liabilities
Total assets
Annual dividend per share(2)

$
1.1 million
0.4 million
8.2 million
2.5 million
2.9 million
5.8 million
0.06
0.06
0.10
46.6 million
0.78
45.9 million
32,000
33.3 million
121.1 million
0.01

(Restated)
December 31, 2010

$
0.9 million
0.3 million
8.8 million
(2.7 million)
2.5 million
2.2 million
0.05
0.05
0.03
62.3 million
1.00
52.4 million
83,000
23.4 million
110.0 million
0.01

$
0.4 million
(1.1 million)
1.6 million
(3.5 million)
(3.5 million)
(0.05)
(0.05)
(0.05)
37.4 million
0.57
50.3 million
4,000
23.3 million
108.6 million
0.01

Note:
(1) As non-IFRS measurements, EBITDA/(LBITDA) (earnings/(losses) before interest income and expense, income taxes, depreciation and
amortisation), EBITDA/(LBITDA) per share and Cash and cash equivalents per share do not comply with IFRS and, therefore, the amounts
presented in the above table may not be comparable to similar data presented by other companies. The data is intended to provide additional
information and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with IFRS.
(2)

The Company declared an annual dividend of $0.01 (CAD0.01) per share for 2012 in accordance with its dividend policy and the 2012 annual
performance. For 2011, the Company paid an annual dividend of $0.01 (CAD0.01) per share pursuant to its dividend policy and the 2011 annual
performance.

(3)

The 2012, 2011 and 2010 financial information were prepared in accordance with IFRS.

3. Business Summary and Development
(a) Gold Project in Xinjiang

The Company owns a 70% equity interest in Xinjiang Tongyuan Minerals Ltd. (“Tongyuan”) which is developing and operating the
Gold Project in Xinjiang.
The Gold Project is located 200 km northwest of the city of Kashi, western Xinjiang, China and lies within the Tian Shan Gold Belt,
which is one of the most promising gold belts in China. Gold mineralization is contained within fine-grained clastic metasedimentary
rocks of Devonian age. The portion of Zone IV with most drilling works done appears to be the thickest portion of the zone and
therefore may represent a flexure or dilation zone within the F3 fault that contains Zone IV.
(i) Update
During 2012, GobiMin conducted a 31,000 meters in-filling drilling campaign which has, amongst other things, improved the reliability
of the existing NI 43-101 compliant mineral resource estimate. In October 2012, GobiMin retained Mr. Neil Gow and Mr. Reno
Pressacco from RPA Inc., Qualified Persons as defined in the NI 43-101, to review the drilling results of the 2012 exploration program
of 68 holes for an aggregate depth of 31,000 meters and all other exploration data.
The NI 43-101 compliant resource estimate update has been published in May 2013. At a cut-off grade of 1.0 grams/tonne gold, its
Zone IV and Zone I are estimated to contain a total of about 20 million tonnes at an average grade of 1.90 grams/tonne Au (about
1.24 million contained oz Au) in the Measured and Indicated Resources category and an additional amount of about 33 million
tonnes averaging 1.47 grams/tonne Au (about 1.6 million contained oz Au) in the Inferred Resources category. The drilling in 2012
has increased the confidence in the mineral resource estimate at the Sawayaerdun deposit with a certain quantity of the resource
upgraded to the measured category and the grade has been enhanced accordingly. The full report can be viewed at www.sedar.com
and the Company’s website at www.gobimin.com.
As at December 31, 2012, the Company has a remaining contractual commitment of $7.5 million for the further development of the
Gold Project including drilling and exploration services, office building, design of mine and related facilities.
(ii) Plan for 2013
GobiMin will complete the final 12,000 meters drilling programs and other relating exploration programs to design and facilitate the
mining programs expected to be commenced by late 2015. Along with the above planned drilling programs, GobiMin will continue to
pursue the major design and construction including mine development, tailing ponds, camp facilities and access roads in preparation
for the trial and commercial production.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Results
For the year ended December 31, 2012 (Expressed in United States Dollars)
May 16, 2013

GobiMin estimates that the Gold Project has now achieved a sufficiently advanced stage of exploration to warrant negotiations with
potential investors for co-operation or disposal of an equity interest in the Gold Project. Early-stage negotiations also involved additional
financing in order to accelerate the construction phase of the Gold Project.

(b) Silver Operation

GobiMin holds an equity interest of 48.02% in China Precision which engages in metal trading and processing, predominantly in
silver.
China Precision has established a small processing workshop in Hong Kong since August 2010 for processing the silver and refining
silver into bars and granules with 99.99% purity for sale to industrial customers. To increase product variety and profit contribution,
GobiMin will continue to source and explore new potential business opportunities in this sector.
(i) Update
The Group has made advances to China Precision from time to time to finance its silver inventory. As at December 31, 2012, amounts
due from China Precision to the Group amounted to $2.1 million while China Precision had a silver inventory of 7.9 tonnes with a
market value of $7.7 million. The Group recorded interest income of $193,203 on these advances for 2012. China Precision had a net
profit of about $1.1 million for 2012, with GobiMin’s share amounting to $0.5 million.
(ii) Plan for 2013
China Precision has made a satisfactory contribution to the equity of the Group in recent years. In order to cope with its expanding
business, the shareholders of China Precision, including the Group, have mutually agreed to increase the paid-up capital of China
Precision by capitalisation of the retained earnings. The Group believes that China Precision will continue its growing trend of business
and thus increase the return to GobiMin.

(c) Base Metal Exploration Projects in Xinjiang

(i) Four Exploration Companies
Since 2007, the Group has invested a total of $3.7 million (RMB23,000,000) as capital in five exploration companies in Xinjiang,
including the Yanxi Copper Property, which was subsequently partially disposed of in 2012. Other than the 8% equity interest in the
Yanxi Copper Property, the Group currently owns 40-50% equity interest in four exploration companies in Xinjiang, China for nickel,
copper, and gold, of which three are treated as associates of the Group and one as a jointly-controlled entity.
The cost of the investment in these four remaining exploration companies amounted to $2.4 million (RMB15,000,000). Netting off the
dividend received by the Group of $0.3 million (RMB1,634,221) during 2012, the net cost of the investment in these four exploration
companies amounted to $2.1 million (RMB13,365,779). The carrying value of these companies as at December 31, 2012 were $2.0
million (RMB12,543,215).
Among the projects of the four exploration companies, two projects located in Hejing and Nileke showed good indication of copper
mineralization. Exploration works on these projects will be continued. New exploration company(s) may be formed in cooperation with
local partners for other potential exploration projects.
(ii) Yanxi Copper Property
In 2010, GobiMin contractually arranged for the transfer of the legal title of 32% of its equity interest in Xinjiang Tongxing Minerals
Limited (“Tongxing”) which is engaged in exploration and development of the Yanxi Copper Property in Xinjiang, China. After the
transfer, GobiMin retains an 8% indirect unlisted equity interest in the Yanxi Copper Property.
Pursuant to the share transfer agreement dated July 14, 2010 and various supplemental agreements entered into with China Daye
Non-Ferrous Metals Mining Limited, a public company with its shares listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (HKEx Stock
Code: 661) (“China Daye”), the total consideration for the transfer of 80% of the Yanxi Copper Property together with an area which is
adjacent to the Property (the “New Area”) was $44.2 million (HK$343,160,440). Among the equity interest disposed, 32% was held
by GobiMin and the remaining 48% was held by two local partners.
The total consideration comprised (i) the consideration for the Yanxi Copper Property of $33.3 million (HK$259,000,000) and (ii) the
additional consideration for the New Area (the “Additional Consideration”) of $10.8 million (HK$84,160,440) based on the resource
estimate of the New Area.
As at December 31, 2012, GobiMin had received a total amount of $38.7 million (HK$301,080,220), comprising cash of $10.4 million
(HK$81,080,220) and $28.3 million (HK$220,000,000) in the form of convertible bonds of China Daye (the “Convertible Bonds”). If
the Group has not converted the Convertible Bonds at the maturity date of December 31, 2013, China Daye shall pay to the Group
the outstanding principal plus interest at the rate of 1% per annum from the date of the issuance of the Convertible Bonds on July 22,
2010 to July 22, 2012 (i.e. the initially agreed maturity date).
The remaining consideration of $5.4 million (HK$42,080,220) was withheld by China Daye to settle the fee related to the application
for the mining licence of the New Area (the “New Mining Licence”). The balance, if any, will be payable in cash by China Daye upon
obtaining the New Mining Licence. GobiMin is entitled to 40% of the balance payment.
The Group is responsible for applying for the New Mining Licence on or before June 2014. The application for the New Mining Licence
is in process and GobiMin is liaising with the relevant government departments to facilitate the application to meet the deadline.
At December 31, 2012, GobiMin recorded a gain on disposal of the Yanxi Copper Property of $8.2 million.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Results

For the year ended December 31, 2012 (Expressed in United States Dollars)
May 16, 2013

(d) Normal Course Issuer Bid

On January 20, 2012, GobiMin renewed its normal course issuer bid to repurchase up to an additional 3,129,814 common shares,
representing approximately 5% of the then common shares outstanding. The Company repurchased the said 3,129,814 common
shares at an average price of CAD0.6409 during the year. All shares repurchased were returned to treasury for cancellation.
On January 16, 2013, GobiMin announced the renewal of its normal course issuer bid to repurchase an additional 2,973,324
common shares, representing approximately 5% of the then common shares outstanding. Purchases are expected to be made in
accordance with applicable regulations over a maximum period of 12 months ending January 31, 2014. As of May 16, 2013, a total of
250,000 common shares were repurchased at an aggregate cost of $134,521 (CAD136,810). All shares repurchased will be returned
to treasury for cancellation.
Management believes that the repurchase by the Company of its own shares can maximize shareholder value and is in the best
interest of the Company and its shareholders. A copy of the related Notice of Intention to Make a Normal Course Issuer Bid for 2013
shall be provided to shareholders upon receipt of written request to the Company at its registered office.

(e) Liquidity and Capital Resources

As at December 31, 2012, the Group had a working capital of about $45.9 million (2011 restated: $52.4 million), after netting off its
current assets of $79.1 million (2011 restated: $75.7 million) with current liabilities of $33.2 million (2011 restated: $23.3 million).
Among the cash and cash equivalents of $46.6 million, about $22.3 million are held in China. The subsidiaries in China are allowed
to transfer funds to other Group companies outside China upon presentation of the proper documentation under current regulations,
subject to the risks outlined hereinafter under the section “Risk Factors”. The Group will carefully plan ahead to match the available
funding with various payment obligations in China and elsewhere.
The Group has no difficulties in meeting obligations associated with its financial liabilities. The Group has determined that its cash and
cash equivalents will be more than sufficient to fund its requirements for investments in working capital and capital assets, and also
the outstanding capital commitments of the Gold Project of approximately $7.5 million.

4. Key Economic Trends
(a) China Economy

Since GobiMin’s activities are mostly conducted in China, the condition of the Chinese economy is a key factor on the Group’s
exploration business. Currency fluctuations may also have an impact on the Group’s cost structure as the Group reports in U.S.
dollars. For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”) appreciated by 1.03% against the U.S. dollar.

(b) Gold Market

The price of gold has a strong influence on the Gold Project’s value. For the year ended December 31, 2012, the gold price has
increased by around 6.59% against the price on December 30, 2011 (last trading date of December 2011), to $1,564.91 per ounce.
However, since year end, the price of gold has decreased significantly from $1,675.35 as of December 31, 2012 to $1,448.55 per
ounce as of May 10, 2013.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported results. Changes to these estimates could materially impact the audited consolidated financial
statements. The estimates made by the Group that are considered to be most critical are described below.
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(a) Exploration and Evaluation Assets

The application of the Group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure requires judgment in determining
whether it is likely that future economic benefits will flow to the Group, which may be based on assumptions about future events or
circumstances. Judgments made may change if new information becomes available. If, after expenditure is capitalized, information
becomes available suggesting that the recovery of expenditure is unlikely, the amount capitalized is written off in the statement of
comprehensive income in the year the new information becomes available. The Company has determined that there is no indicator of
impairment for the expenditure capitalized as at the reporting date.

(b) Income Taxes

There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. The Group recognizes liabilities and contingencies for anticipated tax audit issues based on the Group’s
current understanding of the applicable tax law. For matters where it is probable that an adjustment will be made, the Group records
its best estimate of the tax liability including the related interest and penalties in the current tax provision. Management believes they
have adequately provided for the probable outcome of these matters; however, the final outcome may result in a materially different
outcome from the amount included in the tax liabilities.

(c) Share-based Payment Transactions

The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments
at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions requires determining the most
appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires determining the
most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the stock option, volatility and dividend yield and making
assumptions about them.

(d) Functional Currency

The determination the functional currency for the Company’s subsidiaries, jointly controlled entity and associates is a significant
judgement. The determination of functional currency requires the Company to assess the primary economic environment in which
each of these entities operations and affects how the Company translates foreign currency balances and transactions.

(e) Impairment

Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts
exceed their recoverable amounts and are subject to judgment. Judgment is required in establishing whether there are indicators of
impairment related to these assets such as changes in market price, the extent or manner in which it is being used or in its physical
condition, operations and business environment.

(f) Development Stage of a Mine

When the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting mineral resources become demonstrable, previously recognized
exploration and evaluation assets are reclassified as mining structures and mineral properties under property, plant and equipment.
The determination of when technical feasibility and commercial viability is achieved is subject to significant judgment.

(g) Production Stage of a Mine

The determination of the date on which a mine enters production stage is a significant judgment since capitalization of certain costs
ceases upon entering production. As mine is constructed, costs incurred are capitalized and proceeds from mineral sales are offset
against the capitalized costs. This continues until the mine is available for use in the manner intended by management which requires
significant judgment in its determination.

(h) Estimate of Rehabilitation Provision

Management assesses its provision for rehabilitation at the end of each reporting period. This includes the assessment of any changes
to government regulations, estimation of future rehabilitation costs, the timing of these expenditures, and the impact of changes
in discount rates and foreign exchange rates. The actual future expenditure may differ from the amounts currently provided if the
estimates made are significantly different from the actual results or if there are significant changes in environmental and/or regulatory
requirements in the future.

6.	Future Changes in Significant Accounting Policies
Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group’s consolidated financial statements are listed below. The
Group intends to adopt these standards when they become effective.

(a) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement

IFRS 9 was issued in October 2010. This standard is the first step in the process to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement. IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for recognising, derecognising, classifying and measuring assets and
liabilities, which may affect the Group’s accounting for its financial assets. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2015, with earlier application permitted. The Group is currently evaluating the impact of adoption of this new standard on
its consolidated financial statements.
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(b) IAS 12 Income Taxes

IAS 12 was issued in December 2010. This standard introduces amendments regarding Deferred Tax and provides a practical
approach for measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets when investment property is measured using the fair value
model. The standard is not applicable until July 1, 2012. The Group is currently evaluating the impact of adoption of this new standard
on its consolidated financial statements.

(c) IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

This standard replaces the current IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. The standard identifies the concept of
control as the determining factor in whether an entity should be included within the consolidated financial statements of the parent
company. The Group will start the application of IFRS 10 in the consolidated financial statements effective from January 1, 2013. The
Group does not expect any impact on the consolidated financial statements as a result of adopting this standard.

(d) IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

This standard requires disclosures relating to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries. The Group will start the application of IFRS 12 in the
financial statements effective from January 1, 2013. The Group does not expect any impact on the consolidated financial statements
as a result of adopting this standard.

(e) IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements

This standard defines fair value, provides guidance on its determination and introduces consistent requirements for disclosures on fair
value measurements. The Group will start the application of IFRS 13 in the consolidated financial statements effective from January 1,
2013. The Group shall evaluate its impact on the consolidated financial statements.

(f) Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

The amendment provides guidance on the presentation of items contained in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) and their
classification within OCI. The Group will start the application of this amendment in the consolidated financial statements effective
from January 1, 2013. The Group does not expect any impact on the consolidated financial statements as a result of adopting this
standard.

(g) IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

This standard describes the application of the equity method to investments. The amendment includes the application of equity
method in joint ventures in addition to associates. The Group will start the application of this amendment in the consolidated financial
statements effective from January 1, 2013. Adopting such amendments is not expected to have a significant effect on the Company’s
financial statements.

(h) IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

This standard addresses inconsistencies in the reporting of joint arrangements by requiring joint operations to be accounted for by
recognizing its interest in the joint operations assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and joint ventures to be accounted for using
the equity method. Management anticipates that this standard will be adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
period beginning January 1, 2013. The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact of IFRS 11 but is not yet in a
position to state whether this new standard and amendments would have significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

(i) IFRIC 20 - Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine

This standard provides guidance on the accounting for the costs of stripping activity in the production phase of surface mining when
two benefits accrue to the entity from the stripping activity: useable ore that can be used to produce inventory and improved access to
further quantities of material that will be mined in future periods. IFRIC 20 must be applied starting January 1, 2013. We are currently
assessing the impact of adopting IFRIC 20 on our consolidated financial statements.

(j) Amendments to IFRS 7 - Disclosure of Financial Instruments

The amendment requires the disclosure of information in respect of all transferred financial assets that are not derecognized in
their entirety, and for any continuing involvement in transferred assets which are derecognized, which exists at the reporting date,
irrespective of when the related transfer transaction occurred. Adopting such amendments is not expected to have a significant effect
on the Company’s financial statements.

(k) Amendments to IAS 32- Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities

This standard clarifies that a legally enforceable right to set-off exists if the right is not contingent on a future event, and is enforceable
both in the normal course of business and in default, insolvency or bankruptcy of all parties to the liability. We are not able at this time
to reasonably estimate the impact of the IAS 32 amendments.

7. RESTATEMENT OF DISPOSAL OF YANXI COPPER PROPERTY
In 2010, the Company recognized a sale on the disposal of its 32% equity interest in the Yanxi Copper Property to China Daye. The
Company derecognized the related equity interest in 2010 and recognized a deferred gain of $5,682,689 to reflect the work yet to be
completed with respect to the sale. The sale was, however contingent on the Company obtaining the required mining licence for the
property. The agreement allowed for the unwinding of the transaction if the mining licence was not obtained in its entirety by the due
date specified, unless both parties agreed to the extension of the due date.
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Prior to obtaining the required licence, the transaction did not constitute a sale but rather a deposit of proceeds for a future sale
pending satisfaction of the remaining condition. The investment in the associate and accordingly the Yanxi Copper Property does not
qualify for derecognition until the sale becomes unconditional. The Company has, therefore restated the amounts previously presented
at December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2011 to eliminate the previously recognized disposal.
The effect of the restatement on the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at December 31, 2010 was as follows:
December 31, 2010
Statement of Financial Position
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Interest in associates
Other financial assets
Other payables and accrued liabilities
Deferred gain on disposal of associates
Retained earnings

Previously reported
$
19,206,004
7,098,213
16,771,975
28,225,467
5,682,689
48,952,863

Adjustment
$
(11,454,312)
1,102,329
(223,174)
(4,934,231)
(5,682,689)
41,763

Restated
$
7,751,692
8,200,542
16,548,801
23,291,236
48,994,626

The adjustments made are as follows:
1.

The proceeds received from China Daye as at December 31, 2010 have been reclassified from the deferred gain to reflect the
liability to repay China Daye if the sale is not completed;

2.

All accruals for future costs related to the sale (agency fees and costs to obtain the licence) have been reversed;

3.

The investment has continued to be equity accounted.

The effect of the restatement on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2011 was as follows:
December 31, 2011
Statement of Financial Position
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Interest in associates
Other financial assets
Other payables and accrued liabilities
Deferred gain on disposal of associates
Retained earnings

Previously reported
$
19,341,000
2,113,541
14,106,188
28,250,606
5,682,689
50,769,706

Adjustment
$
(11,454,311)
1,025,969
(208,028)
(4,964,592)
(5,682,689)
10,911

Restated
$
7,886,689
3,139,510
13,898,160
23,286,014
50,780,617

The adjustments made at December 31, 2011 are consistent with those made at December 31, 2010. The prior period adjustment
had the following impact on the profit and total comprehensive income, basic and fully diluted earnings per share for the year ended
December 31, 2011:
For the year ended December 31, 2011
Statement of Comprehensive Income
General and administrative expenses
Share of results of associates
Exchange (loss)/gain

Previously reported

Adjustment

Restated

$
(4,951,789)
170,240
(52,880)

$
25,556
(127,783)
71,375

$
(4,926,233)
42,457
18,495

Profit for the year

2,517,276

(30,852)

2,486,424

Total comprehensive income for the year

4,476,871

(30,852)

4,446,019

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

4,739,491
(262,620)

(30,852)
-

4,708,639
(262,620)

4,476,871

(30,852)

4,446,019

Net earnings per share
Basic and diluted

0.05

-

0.05

There was no significant impact on the statement of cash flows as the changes to profit for the year were offset by adjustments for
items not involving cash.
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8. Selected Quarterly Information
As at / For the quarter ended

December 31, 2012
$
(639,989)

Revenue
(Loss)/Profit for the period
Basic and diluted (losses)/earnings
per share
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
As at / For the quarter ended

September 30, 2012

0.010
46,608,027
121,082,985

June 30, 2012

March 31, 2012

$
4,704,839

$
(908,932)

$
(278,435)

0.084
50,255,823
112,206,072

(0.013)
58,792,230
116,829,716

(0.003)
51,631,409
119,061,793

(Restated)
December 31, 2011

September 30, 2011

$
(3,818,653)

$
7,977,321

$
(908,115)

$
(764,129)

(0.060)
62,305,634
109,995,167

0.126
62,963,423
123,474,296

(0.014)
39,808,289
113,677,185

(0.012)
25,017,462
117,196,502

Revenue
(Loss)/Profit for the period
Basic and diluted (losses)/earnings per
share
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets

June 30, 2011

March 31, 2011

Both 2012 and 2011 financial information were prepared in accordance with IFRS.
For the three months ended December 31, 2012, the Group reported net loss of $0.6 million (Q4 2011 restated: $3.8 million) which
mainly comprised the general and administrative expenses of $1.9 million (Q4 2011 restated: $2.0 million) netting off the additional
gain from disposal of Yanxi Copper Property of $2.0 million, increase in the fair value of other financial assets of $2.5 million (Q4
2011: loss of $2.7 million) and deferred income taxes of $3.4 million. In this quarter, the Group recorded net cash outflow of $3.6
million (Q4 2011: cash outflow of $0.7 million). It was mainly the net effect of $4.1 million of the consideration received for disposal
of Yanxi Copper Property offsetting against $3.4 million payment to the two local shareholders of Tongxing, $0.9 million advance to
China Precision for the silver operation, payment for the Gold Project of $3.0 million, together with the office expenses of $0.5 million.
The total assets have increased by $8.8 million to $121.1 million in this quarter which is mainly due to the additional consideration
received for disposal of Yanxi Copper Property of $4.1 million and the increase in the fair value on the other financial assets of $2.5
million.

9. Results of Operations
(a) Revenue

No revenue (2011: Nil) from operations has been recorded in this year.
Other revenue in 2012 were $1.1 million (2011: $0.9 million) including interest income of $0.9 million (2011: $0.7 million) and rental
income from the office building in Xinjiang of $0.2 million (2011: $0.2 million).

(b) General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses incurred in this year were $6.0 million (2011 restated: $4.9 million). The increase in expenses
in the current year mainly represents the pre-operating expenses of $0.9 million incurred for the Gold Project. Other expenses mainly
include office rental, staff cost and legal and professional fees.
The amortized portion of the total share-based payment in 2012 amounted to $0.3 million (2011: $0.2 million).

(c) Gain on Disposal of an Associate after Tax

Pursuant to the share transfer agreement dated July 14, 2010 and the various supplemental agreements, the Group, together with
the two local partners, disposed of its 32% equity interest in the Yanxi Copper Property at a total consideration of $33.3 million
(HK$259,000,000). (Please also refer to Note 3(c)(ii) above.)
After deducting the cost of investments, provision of mining licence fee and related tax and expenses of $28.6 million that should be
borne by the Group pursuant to the agreements, the Group recorded a gain of $5.5 million.
During the year 2011, the Group had entered into an agreement to dispose of its 49% equity interest in Hami Coal Corporation,
through which the Group owned a 24.49% indirect equity interest in the Balikun Coal Project in Xinjiang. Pursuant to the agreement,
a total consideration of approximately $31.8 million (RMB200,000,000) was received, including the repayment to the Group of the
loans made for the Balikun Coal Project. The disposal was completed in September 2011 and resulted in a gain on disposal of equity
investment of $8,826,751.
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(d) Change in Fair Value on Other Financial Assets

(i) Convertible Bonds
It represents the Convertible Bonds with a principal amount of $28.3 million (HK$220,000,000) issued by China Daye as partial
payment of the consideration for the disposal of the 32% equity interest in the Yanxi Copper Property. The Convertible Bonds were
revalued at $26.6 million (HK$206,843,000) as at December 31, 2012 based on the fair value as determined by an independent
professional valuator. Accordingly, a loss on change in fair value of $0.6 million (2011: $2.7 million) was recognized.
(ii) Available-for-sale financial asset
After disposal of a 32% equity interest of Yanxi Copper Property, GobiMin retained an 8% equity interest of Tongxing. The retained
interest of Tongxing, the former associate of GobiMin, is recognized as available-for-sale financial asset and measure at fair value. The
difference between the fair value and the carrying value of $3.1 million was recognized as fair value gain at December 31, 2012.

(e) Earnings Per Share

The basic and diluted earnings per share in 2012 were $0.06 (2011 restated: $0.05 per share) mainly attributed as the gain on
disposal of an associate and fair value gain on available-for-sale financial asset as discussed in Note 9(c) and 9(d)(ii) above.

(f) EBITDA

In 2012, the earnings before interest income and expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”), a non-IFRS
performance measure, were $5,783,352 as compared to $2,176,905 in 2011 (Restated). The following table presents the calculation
of EBITDA for the year:

		
(Restated)
For the year ended
December 31, 2012
December 31, 2011
$
2,877,483
(941,986)
438,733
3,409,122
5,783,352
0.10

Profit for the year
Interest income
Depreciation
Income tax expense
EBITDA(1)
EBITDA per share(2)

$
2,486,424
(667,375)
357,856
2,176,905
0.03

Note:
(1) As non-IFRS measurements, EBITDA and EBITDA per share do not comply with IFRS and, therefore, the amounts presented in the above table
may not be comparable to similar data presented by other companies. The data is intended to provide additional information and should not be
considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with IFRS.
(2) Based on weighted average number of shares outstanding, a non-IFRS measure.

(g) Annual Dividend

In May 2012, GobiMin paid an annual dividend of $0.01 (CAD0.01) per share for a total amount of $607,521 (2011: $641,007) in
accordance with its dividend policy and the 2011 annual performance.
On May 16, 2013, the Company declared an annual dividend of $0.01 (CAD0.01) per share in accordance with its dividend policy
and the 2012 annual performance. The dividend is payable on June 24, 2013 to shareholders of record on May 29, 2013.

10. CASH FLOWS
The following table summarises the Group’s consolidated cash flows and cash on hand:

		
(Restated)
As at
December 31, 2012
December 31, 2011
Cash and cash equivalents
Working capital(1)
For the year ended
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities
Net cash (used in) financing activities
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities
(1)

$
62,305,634
52,418,074

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

$
(3,909,980)
(2,656,624)
(9,406,676)

Working capital is a non-IFRS measurement, which is the difference between current assets and current liabilities.
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(a) Operating Activities

In 2012, net cash outflow from operating activities was $3.9 million (2011: cash inflow of $5.2 million) which mainly represents the
office expenses of $5.1 million and deposit paid for Gold Project of $2.0 million offsetting the repayment from China Precision of $3.5
million. The net cash inflow in the year 2011 was mainly representing the proceeds from the repurchase by China Precision of silver
bullion for $9.5 million, netted against $2.6 million office expenses payments and deposit paid for Gold Project of $1.6 million.

(b) Financing Activities

The cash outflow of financing activities was $2.7 million in 2012 (2011: $3.3 million). The cash outflow this year mainly represents the
payment for shares repurchase of $2.0 million (2011: $2.6 million) and the payment of 2012 annual dividend of $0.6 million (2011:
$0.6 million).

(c) Investing Activities

The cash outflow from investing activities was $9.4 million in this year compared to a net cash inflow of $22.9 million in 2011. The
cash outflow in this year mainly represents the payment for construction work for the Gold Project of $10.7 million and the settlement
of payables related to disposal of Yanxi Copper Property of $2.0 million netting off the cash deposit received from China Daye of $2.7
million and $0.4 million dividend received from China Precision. While the cash inflow of $22.9 million in 2011 mainly represent the
proceeds from disposal of an associate of $31.8 million netting off the payment for construction work for the Gold Project of $9.5
million.

11. Statements of Financial Position
(a) Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Group had approximately $46.6 million in cash and cash equivalents as at December 31, 2012, compared to $62.3 million as at
December 31, 2011. The decrease of $15.7 million was mainly the combined effect of $2.0 million used in share repurchase; $0.6
million in dividend payment; $13.6 million payment for the Gold Project; settlement of other payable of $2.3 million and the cash
outflow for the office expenses of $5.1 million, netted against the cash consideration received from disposal of Yanxi Copper Property
of $2.7 million, interest and dividend received of $1.3 million and repayment from China Precision of $3.5 million.

(b) Exploration and Evaluation Assets

All the exploration and evaluation assets are related to the Gold Project, such as mining rights, geological and geophysical costs, mine
site and facilities construction, drilling and exploration expenses. For the year ended December 31, 2012, additions in exploration and
evaluation assets of $18.2 million were incurred for the development of the Gold Project.

(c) Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables

As at December 31, 2012, in addition to the prepayment of expenses, deposits for exploration and construction services related to the
Gold Project and rental deposit:
(i)

A deposit of $0.7 million (RMB4,340,720) (2011: $Nil) was paid by Tongyuan for the mine design and related facilities of the
Gold Project, and

(ii) A deposit of $0.8 million (RMB5,154,661) (2011: $Nil) was paid by Tongyuan for construction work of the office building for the
Gold Project.

(d) Deferred Expenditure

Pursuant to the supplemental agreement dated May 31, 2012 in relation to the disposal of Yanxi Copper Property, the Group was
entitled to an additional consideration of $10.8 million based on the resource estimate of the New Area. In return the Group is
responsible for applying for a mining licence for the New Area. The licence should be obtained on or before June 30, 2014. At
December 31, 2012, the Group had incurred expenditure of $2.1 million in relation to the mining licence application and this
expenditure was recognized as deferred expenditure in the statement of financial position.

(e) Other Financial Assets

Part of these financial assets represents the Convertible Bonds with a principal amount of $28.3 million (HK$220,000,000) issued
by China Daye as partial consideration for the disposal of the equity interest in the Yanxi Copper Property. The Convertible Bonds
are stated at $26.6 million (2011 restated: $13.1 million) as at December 31, 2012 based on their fair value as determined by an
independent professional valuator. These bonds are convertible into common shares of China Daye on or before their maturity date of
December 31, 2013 at a price of $0.068 (HK$0.528) and bear interest at the rate of 1% per annum for the period from July 22, 2010
to July 22, 2012 if the Group does not exercise the conversion before the maturity date.
The remaining balance represents the $1.0 million listed debentures and the remaining 8% indirect unlisted equity interest in
Tongxing of $3.3 million held by the Group as at December 31, 2012.

(f) Other Payables, Receipts in Advance and Accrued Liabilities

As at December 31, 2012, the balance of other payables, receipts in advance and accrued liabilities are mainly composed of the
payables for the mining licence fee, tax, stamp duty and related payments of $21.0 million arising on the disposal of the Yanxi Copper
Property.
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(g) Share Capital

As at December 31, 2012, the Group had 59,466,482 common shares issued and outstanding. During the year, 3,129,814 common
shares were repurchased and cancelled and 327,000 stock options were cancelled.

12. Related Party Transactions
a)

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Group had the following transactions with related parties:
(i)

Share-based payment expenses of $0.2 million (2011: $0.14 million) in respect of options previously granted to directors
and key management personnel.

(ii) Fees and other remunerations to directors and key management personnel of $1.3 million (2011: $1.0 million).
(iii) Rental income of $25,411 (2011: $25,411) from the office building in Xinjiang received from related parties.
(iv) Gain on disposal of a motor vehicle of $61,967 (2011: $Nil)
(v) Interest income of $0.2 million (2011: $0.3 million) received from China Precision.
(vi) Expenses recharge of $61,611 (2011: $60,668) to China Precision.
(vii) Dividend income of $0.4 million (2011: $Nil) received from China Precision and associates in Xinjiang, China.
b)

As at December 31, 2012, advances made by the Group to related parties were disclosed as amounts due from associates and
deposit paid to related parties in the consolidated financial statements as follows:
(i)

The amounts due from associates included an advance to China Precision of $2.0 million (2011: $5.2 million) and $61,802
(2011: nil) dividend receivable from China Precision in which the Group has an indirect equity interest of 48.02%. Such
advance is unsecured, bear interest at the rate of 2% per annum and due on demand.

(ii) The non-current portion of the deposit paid to related parties included:
(1) A deposit of $79,408 (2011: $0.4 million) paid to the non-controlling shareholder of an associate for the exploration
services on its exploration projects.
(2) A deposit of $0.5 million (2011: $0.5 million) paid to the non-controlling shareholder of a non-wholly owned subsidiary
for exploration services

13. Capital Commitment
As at December 31, 2012, there were capital commitments of approximately $7.5 million that the Group had contracted, but not
provided for. The Group has entered into agreements for exploration services, construction of an office building and mine design and
related facilities relating to the Gold Project. The total contracted amount is $16.8 million (RMB104,743,122). Total deposits and
progress payments of $9.4 million (RMB58,407,672) have been paid and the remaining balance of $7.5 million (RMB46,335,450)
was regarded as a commitment of the Group as at December 31, 2012.

14. Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The Group does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

15. Proposed Transaction
(a) Yanxi Copper Property - New Area

According to the share transfer agreement dated July 14, 2010 and various supplemental agreements in respect of the disposal of
the Yanxi Copper Property, the Group is responsible for applying for the New Mining Licence. The remaining balance of $5.4 million
(HK$42,080,220) is withheld by China Daye and will be used to settle the fee related to the application for the New Mining Licence.
The balance, if any, will be payable in cash by China Daye upon obtaining the New Mining Licence by June 2014. GobiMin is entitled
to 40% of the balance payment (Please see also Note 3(c)(ii)).

(b) Acquisition of Office Property in Hong Kong

On March 7, 2013, GobiMin announced that its wholly owned subsidiary has entered into a provisional agreement (the “PA”) to
acquire an office property in Hong Kong (the “Acquisition”) from an independent third party together with the existing tenancy at
rental income of $13,630 (HK$106,000) per month to be received up to March 31, 2014. The total consideration of the Acquisition is
$6.0 million (HK$47 million). An initial deposit of $0.3 million (HK$2 million) was paid upon signing of the PA. A further deposit of $0.3
million (HK$2.7 million) was paid on March 12, 2013. The Acquisition will be completed by the end of June 2013 when the balance
of the consideration of $5.4 million (HK$42.3 million) will become payable. The office property will be used by GobiMin to operate its
business and GobiMin will have a rental saving of $0.2 million per annum.

PAGE

16

GobiMin Inc.

Annual Report 2012

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Results

For the year ended December 31, 2012 (Expressed in United States Dollars)
May 16, 2013

16. Outstanding Share Data
The following table provides information concerning the Company’s share capital and convertible securities:
As at

December 31, 2011

December 31, 2012

May 16, 2013

62,596,296
3,159,000
65,755,296

59,466,482
2,832,000
62,298,482

59,216,482
2,832,000
62,048,482

Number of Common Shares Outstanding
Options
Total Number of Common Shares Fully Diluted

17. Risk factors
The mining business conducted by the Group is subject to a number of risks, including those outlined below. These risk factors could
materially affect the Group’s future operating results and could cause actual events to differ materially from those described in the
forward-looking statements relating to the Group. Readers should also be aware that there are particular risks of doing business in
China, some of which are outlined below.

(a) Metal Prices

The profitability of the Group may be significantly affected by changes in the market price of metals. Metal prices fluctuate on a daily
basis and are affected by numerous factors beyond the control of the Group. Interest rates, inflation, exchange rates and world supply
of mineral commodities can all cause fluctuations in the market prices for these metals. Such external economic factors are in turn
influenced by changes in international economic growth patterns and political developments.
The Group may apply its free cash balances to metal trading operations. These transactions are by their very nature speculative and
could result in GobiMin suffering financial losses.

(b) Currency Risks

The Group’s operating expenses and revenues from operations are in RMB, one of the main currencies used by the Group. Currently,
the RMB is linked to the US dollar by exchange rates managed through China’s central bank. Accordingly, exchange rate fluctuations
with the RMB may adversely affect the Group’s financial position and operating results. The Group does not currently engage in
foreign currency hedging activities.
Under current regulations, there is no restriction on foreign exchange conversion of the RMB on the current account, although any
foreign exchange transaction on the capital account is subject to prior approval from the State Administration of Foreign Exchange
(“SAFE”) or review by the payment bank in accordance with regulations issued by SAFE. However, even on the current account
the RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Foreign invested enterprises in China are currently allowed to repatriate profit to their
foreign parents or pay outstanding current account obligations in foreign exchange but must present the proper documentation to a
designated foreign exchange bank in order to do so. There is no guarantee that foreign exchange control policies will not be changed
so as to require government approval to convert RMB into foreign currency on the current account or repatriate profits. These
limitations could affect the ability of the Group to pay dividends, obtain foreign exchange through debt or equity financing, or to obtain
foreign exchange for capital expenditures.

(c) Exploration, Development and Operating Risks

The exploration and development of mineral deposits involves significant risks over a significant period of time, which even with a
combination of careful evaluation, experience and knowledge may not be eliminated. Few properties that are explored are ultimately
developed into producing mines. Major expenditures may be required to establish mineral reserves through drilling, to develop
metallurgical processes and to develop the mining and processing facilities and infrastructure at any site chosen for mining. No
assurance can be given that minerals will be discovered in sufficient quantities to justify commercial operations or that funds required
for development can be obtained on a timely basis. The economic viability of a mineral deposit depends on many factors, including
size, grade, cost of operations, metal prices, cost of processing equipment, continuing access to smelter facilities on acceptable terms,
government regulations, land tenure, and environmental protection. The exact effect of these factors cannot be measured but the
combinations of these factors may impact the success of the Group’s mineral exploration, development and acquisition activities. Even
after the commencement of mining operations, such operations may be subject to risks and hazards such as environmental hazards,
industrial accidents, cave-ins, rock bursts, unusual or unexpected geological formations, ground control problems and flooding. The
occurrence of any of the foregoing could result in damage to or destruction of mineral properties and production facilities, personal
injuries, environmental damage, delays or interruptions of production, increases in production costs, monetary losses, legal liability
and adverse government action.
It is not always possible to obtain insurance against all such risks and the Group may decide not to insure against certain risks
because of high premiums or other reasons. Should such liabilities arise, they could reduce or eliminate any further profitability and
result in increasing costs and a decline in the value of the securities of the Group. The Group does not maintain insurance against
political or environmental risks.
The Group’s properties are generally located in the Xinjiang region, a sector which has in the past experienced seismic activity of six to
seven on the Richter scale. Therefore, planning for mines and infrastructures must consider seismicity in the design and there exist a
risk that seismic activities may cause significant damages to the Group’s infrastructures and operations in the area.
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The development of mining properties has inherent risks. The Group may not have sufficient technical or financial resources to
complete the projects. Costs over-runs are common in mining projects and may pose a risk for the Group.

(d) Uncertainty of Ore Reserves and Resource Estimates

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating mineral resources and mineral reserves. Such estimates are a subjective
process, and the accuracy of any mineral resources and mineral reserves estimate is a function of the quantity and quality of
available data and of the assumptions made and judgments used in engineering and geological interpretation. These amounts are
estimates only and the actual level of recovery of minerals from such deposits may be different. Differences between management’s
assumptions, including economic assumptions such as mineral prices, market conditions and actual events could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s mineral reserve and mineral resource estimates, financial position and results of operations.
For some of its properties, the Group may prepare its own mineral reserves and resources estimate only in accordance with the former
China Ministry of Geological and Mineral Resources (“CMGMR”) classification system. The CMGMR classification system is not
compliant with the Canadian Securities Administrators NI 43-101. These figures are only estimates and there cannot be any assurance
given that the estimated mineral reserves and resources will be recovered or that they will be recovered at the rates estimated. Mineral
reserve and resource estimates are determined based upon assumed commodity prices and operating costs. These factors may in the
future render certain mineral reserves and resources unproductive and may ultimately result in a significant reduction in reserves and
resources.

(e) Capital Requirements

The Group does have limited financial resources. Although the Group believes it will be able to fund the development of its mineral
properties through existing working capital, and a combination of debt and equity, there can be no assurance the Group will be able to
raise additional funding if needed. Failure to obtain such additional funding could result in the delay or indefinite postponement of the
exploration and development of some of the Group’s properties.

(f) Risks Relating to Conducting Business in China

The business operations of the Group are located in, and the revenues of the Group are derived from activities in, China. Accordingly,
the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Group could be significantly and adversely affected by economic,
legal, political and social changes in China. Generally, China demonstrates favourable policies towards foreign investments. However,
there is no guarantee that current policy trends and the existing economic policy of China will not be changed. A change in policies in
China could adversely affect the Group.
China’s local, provincial and central authorities exercise a substantial degree of control over the mining industry in China. The Group’s
operations are subject to Chinese laws, regulations, policies, standards and requirements in relation to, among other things, mine
exploration, development, production, taxation, labor standards, occupational health and safety, waste treatment and environmental
protection, and operation management. Any changes to these laws, regulations, policies, standards and requirements or to the
interpretation or enforcement thereof may restrict the business operations of the Group or increase the Group’s operating costs and
thus adversely affect the Group’s results.

(g) Permits and Licences

The operations of exploration and mining require specific licences and permits e.g. exploration licence for exploration activities
and exploitation licence for exploitation activities. Any changes in regulations imposed by the governments due to any reasons are
beyond the control of the Group and may adversely affect its business and its ability or retain title to its property and obtain some of
the necessary licences. The changes of regulations may include, but not limited to, varying degrees of those with respect to stricter
restrictions on production, price controls, export controls, income taxes, expropriation of property, employment, land use, water use,
environmental legislation and mine safety.
GobiMin’s exploration and exploitation licences are subject to annual audit by the Department of Land and Resources of Xinjiang,
China. In their annual audit, the authorities may consider whether the Group’s mining activities have been in compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations. If the Group fails to meet the relevant requirements or materially breaches any laws or regulations, it
may not pass such audit, in which case it may be subject to penalties in accordance with applicable laws, or be given a deadline to
rectify deficiencies, or, in serious cases, have its permits and licences revoked. While the Group has never encountered such problems
in the past, there can be no assurance that it will pass future audits. Should permits or licences be suspended or revoked, GobiMin’s
business and results of operations could be materially affected. The mining licence for the Gold Project was granted for an initial
period of 8 years. As at December 31, 2012, the remaining valid period of the mining licence was 5 years. There is no guarantee that
such mining licence will be renewed at its expiration.

(h) Environmental Regulation

The mining operations of the Group are subject to environmental regulations promulgated by relevant governments. The relevant
environmental regulations impose restrictions and prohibitions on spills, or handling of various substances produced during mining
or processing operations. In addition, approval of environmental impact assessment for certain types of the mining operations are
required. In breach of such regulations or failure of the governmental approval may result in the imposition of fines and penalties. The
costs of compliance with environmental regulations, such as advanced equipment which is environmental friendly, has the potential to
reduce the profitability of future operations.
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(i) Dependence on Key Managerial Employees

The success of the Group is highly dependent upon the continued services of a small number of key managerial employees both
in Canada and China, including Mr. Felipe Tan, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and Mr. Zhang Ming, a Director of the
Company and General Manager of the Chinese subsidiary. The Group does not currently maintain key-man life insurance policies on
any member of management. Accordingly, the loss of any of these executives could have a material adverse effect on the Group.

(j) Competition

There is significant and increasing competition within the mining industry for the discovery and acquisition of properties considered
having commercial potential. The Group competes with other mining companies, some of which have greater financial resources,
and as a result, the Group may not be able to acquire mineral interests on terms it considers acceptable. As well, the Group
competes for the recruitment and retention of qualified employees and other personnel. The current economic growth in China and
the corresponding creation of a more liquid market for skilled employees may lead to future problems in retaining local Chinese
management. As a result of this competition, the Group may not be able to acquire additional mineral interests and hire or retain
qualified personnel for its projects.

(k) Dividend Policy

GobiMin has been declaring and paying an annual dividend to its shareholders since 2005. GobiMin currently intends to continue to
pay annual dividends subject to earnings, capital availability and periodic determinations that cash dividends are in the best interest of
the Group and our shareholders. Our dividend policy may change from time to time at the discretion of our board of directors and we
may or may not continue to declare dividend payments. A change in our dividend policy could have a negative effect on our stock price.

(l) Joint Ventures

The Group’s interests in its mineral properties are usually held through joint venture companies established under and governed by the
laws of China. The Group’s joint venture partners in China include state-sector entities whose actions and priorities may be dictated
by government policies instead of purely commercial considerations. In addition, the Group’s activities and results may be affected by
problems encountered with or by its joint venture partners.

(m) Concentration of Credit Risks

The Group is exposed to credit risk with respect to cash equivalents, other receivables, amounts due from associates, amounts due
from related parties and other financial assets. The maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these assets included on the
consolidated statements of financial position. There is a concentration of credit risk arising from the Convertible Bonds received on
disposal of the Yanxi Copper Property stated at $26,620,721 as at December 31, 2012. Management believes that the risk of credit
loss on the Convertible Bonds is minimal as the issuer of the convertible bonds is a listed company of Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.
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BDO Canada LLP
Royal Bank Plaza South Tower
200 Bay Street, 33rd Floor, PO Box 32
Toronto ON M5J 2J8 Canada

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of GobiMin Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of GobiMin Inc., which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2012, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity, and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31,
2012, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
GobiMin Inc. as at December 31, 2012, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year ended December
31, 2012 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Other Matter
The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2011 prior to adjustments
for the correction of an error related to the accounting for the transaction with China Daye Non-Ferrous Metals Mining
Limited, as described in Note 5, were audited by another auditor who expressed an opinion without reservation on those
financial statements in their report dated April 17, 2012. We have audited the adjustments to the consolidated financial
statements described in Note 5 and, in our opinion, such adjustments in all material respects, are appropriate and have
been properly applied.

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
Toronto, Ontario
May 16, 2013
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		 (Restated - Note 5)
December 31,
December 31,
2011
2012

(Restated - Note 5)
January 1,
2011

ASSETS
Current
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6)
Silver Bullion
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables (Note 7)
Amounts due from associates (Note 8)
Amount due from a related party
Other financial assets (Note 14)
Total current assets

$

$

$

46,608,027
3,807,903
2,074,557
26,620,721
79,111,208

62,305,634
7,886,689
5,511,765
75,704,088

37,442,778
9,549,403
7,751,692
3,631,270
15,173,745
73,548,888

Non-current
Property, plant and equipment (Note 9)
Investment properties (Note 10)
Exploration and evaluation assets (Note 11)
Interest in a jointly-controlled entity (Note 12)
Interests in associates (Note 13)
Other financial assets (Note 14)
Amount due from an associate
Deposit paid to related parties (Note 15)
Total non-current assets

1,652,263
2,467,322
29,948,601
825,227
2,129,691
4,368,523
580,150
41,971,777

1,185,256
2,571,094
11,718,902
857,696
3,139,510
13,898,160
920,461
34,291,079

1,152,636
2,531,992
2,175,748
518,920
8,200,542
16,548,801
1,981,691
1,893,564
35,003,894

121,082,985

109,995,167

108,552,782

LIABILITIES
Current
Other payables, receipts in advance
   and accrued liabilities (Note 16)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 17)
Total current liabilities

29,837,345
3,409,122
33,246,467

23,286,014
23,286,014

23,291,236
23,291,236

Non-Current
Other payables, receipts in advance
   and accrued liabilities (Note 16)
Total non-current liabilities

32,380
32,380

82,842
82,842

4,239
4,239

Total liabilities

33,278,847

23,368,856

23,295,475

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital (Note 18)
Reserves

26,119,074
60,257,127

27,461,311
57,353,077

28,874,192
54,308,572

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests (Note 19)
Total shareholders’ equity

86,376,201
1,427,937
87,804,138

84,814,388
1,811,923
86,626,311

83,182,764
2,074,543
85,257,307

121,082,985

109,995,167

108,552,782

Total assets

,

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

APPROVED BY THE BOARD ON MAY 16, 2013 AND SIGNED ON ITS BEHALF BY:

Felipe Tan
Director

Hubert Marleau
Director
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December 31, 2012

(Restated - Note 5)
December 31, 2011

Revenue
Cost of sales
Selling and distribution cost

$
-

$
-

Gross profit

-

-

Other revenue (Note 20)
General and administrative expenses (Note 21)
Share of results of a jointly-controlled entity (Note 12)
Share of results of associates (Note 13)

1,143,566
(6,031,531)
16,108
415,041

875,206
(4,926,233)
305,148
42,457

Operating loss

(4,456,816)

(3,703,422)

Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries
Gain on disposal of an associate (Note 22)
Loss on deemed disposal of an associate
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Change in fair value on other financial assets (Note 14.1 & 14.3)
Exchange (loss)/gain
Finance costs (Note 23)

8,151,801
275,033
2,541,527
(213,978)
(10,962)

31
8,826,751
(13,186)
16,730
(2,652,754)
18,495
(6,221)

Profit before income tax

6,286,605

2,486,424

Income tax expense (Note 17)
Profit for the year

-

2,877,483

2,486,424

Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Foreign currency translation differences

622,990

1,959,595

Total comprehensive income for the year

3,500,473

4,446,019

Profit for the year attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests (Note 19)

3,358,855
(481,372)

2,874,810
(388,386)

2,877,483

2,486,424

3,884,459
(383,986)

4,708,639
(262,620)

3,500,473

4,446,019

0.06

0.05

Share
61,040,538

Share
63,621,261

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests (Note 19)

Net earnings per share (Note 18.7)
Basic and diluted
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (Note 18.7)
Basic and diluted
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Attributed to shareholders of the Company
			
Share 				
NonShare Contributed
option
General Translation
Retained controlling
capital
surplus
reserve
reserve
reserve
earnings
interests
Note 18.1			 Note 18.3
Note 18.4		
Note 19
$
28,874,192

$
2,596,106

$
1,148,611

$
7,666

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-

-

2,874,810

(388,386)

2,486,424

Foreign currency translation differences

-

-

-

-

1,833,829

-

125,766

1,959,595

Total comprehensive income/(loss)

-

-

-

-

1,833,829

2,874,810

(262,620)

4,446,019

Dividend paid (Note 27)

-

-

-

-

-

(641,007)

-

(641,007)

(1,412,881)

(127,964)

-

-

-

(1,097,559)

-

(2,638,404)

Options cancelled

-

-

(649,747)

-

-

649,747

-

-

Share-based payment

-

-

202,396

-

-

-

-

202,396

Balance as at December 31, 2011
(Restated)

27,461,311

2,468,142

701,260

7,666

3,395,392 50,780,617

1,811,923 86,626,311

Balance as at January 1, 2012 (Restated)

27,461,311

2,468,142

701,260

7,666

3,395,392 50,780,617

1,811,923 86,626,311

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-

-

3,358,855

(481,372) 2,877,483

Foreign currency translation differences

-

-

-

-

525,604

-

Total comprehensive income/(loss)

-

-

-

-

525,604

3,358,855

Dividend paid (Note 27)

-

-

-

-

-

(607,521)

-

(1,342,237)

(68,203)

-

-

-

(584,987)

- (1,995,427)

Options cancelled

-

-

(23,200)

-

-

23,200

-

-

Share-based payment

-

-

280,302

-

-

-

-

280,302

26,119,074

2,399,939

958,362

7,666

Balance as at January 1, 2011 (Restated)

Shares repurchased

Shares repurchased

Balance as at December 31, 2012

$
$
1,561,563 48,994,626

Total
Equity

3,920,996 52,970,164

$
$
2,074,543 85,257,307

97,386

622,990

(383,986) 3,500,473
(607,521)

1,427,937 87,804,138

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2012
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

		
December 31, 2012

(Restated - Note 5)
December 31, 2011

$

$

6,286,605

2,486,424

438,733
280,302
(16,108)
(415,041)
(8,151,801)
(275,033)
(2,541,527)
213,978
(941,986)
4,992

357,856
202,396
(305,148)
(42,457)
(31)
(8,826,751)
(16,730)
2,652,754
1,514,572
(667,375)
1,119

(5,116,886)

(2,643,371)

(1,990,230)
3,499,010
(301,874)

9,549,403
(134,996)
101,196
(1,572,671)
(123,038)

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities

(3,909,980)

5,176,523

Financing activities
Interest paid
Shares repurchased
Repayment of obligations under finance lease
Dividend paid

(4,992)
(1,995,427)
(48,684)
(607,521)

(1,119)
(2,638,404)
(40,998)
(641,007)

Net cash used in financing activities

(2,656,624)

(3,321,528)

941,986
385,666
(941,988)
(10,696,953)
(205,770)
447,997
(2,050,641)
2,713,027
-

667,375
(68,241)
(27,756)
(9,441,667)
18,947
31,763,192

Operating activities
Profit before income tax
Adjustments for items not involving cash:
- Depreciation
- Share-based payment
- Share of results of a jointly-controlled entity
- Share of results of associates
- Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries
- Gain on disposal of an associate
- Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
- Change in fair value on other financial assets
- Exchange difference
- Interest income
- Interest expense
Change in non-cash working capital items:
- Silver bullion
- Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
- Amounts due from associates/amount due from an associate
- Deposit paid to related parties
- Other payables, receipts in advance and accrued liabilities

Investing activities
Interest received
Dividend received
Additions of property, plant and equipment
Additions of investment properties
Additions of exploration and evaluation assets
Additions of listed debentures
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Settlement of payables related to disposal of an associate
Cash deposit received
Cash received from disposal of an associate
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities
(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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9,406,676

22,911,850

(15,973,280)

24,766,845

275,673
62,305,634

96,011
37,442,778

46,608,027

62,305,634

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2012
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
GobiMin Inc. (the “Company” or “GobiMin”) is a limited liability company incorporated in Canada under the Canada Business
Corporations Act. It is listed on the TSX Venture Exchange, having the symbol GMN-V, as a Tier 2 mining issuer. Its registered office is
situated at Suite 1250, 120 Adelaide Street West, Toronto, Ontario M5H 1T1, Canada.
The Company together with its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) is engaged in the development and exploration of mineral
properties mainly in the Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region (“Xinjiang”) of the People’s Republic of China (“China”).

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
(a) Statement of Compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”),
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The policies set out below were consistently applied to all the
years presented unless otherwise noted. These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board
of Directors on May 16, 2013.

(b) Basis of Measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, with the exception of items that IFRS requires
to be carried at fair value, as described in the notes below.

(c) Functional and Presentation Currency

The functional currency of GobiMin and its Hong Kong and certain British Virgin Islands subsidiaries is United States dollars. The
functional currency of the remaining Hong Kong and British Virgin Islands subsidiaries is the Hong Kong dollar. The functional
currency of the Group’s subsidiaries in China is the Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in United States dollars.

(d) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at December 31,
2012. Where the Company has the power, either directly or indirectly, to govern the financial or operating policies of another entity or
business so as to obtain benefits from its activities, it is classified as a subsidiary. The consolidated financial statements present the
results of the Company and its subsidiaries as if they formed a single entity. Intercompany transactions and balances between group
companies are therefore eliminated in full.
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the results of business combinations using the purchase method. In the statements
of financial position, the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are initially recognized at their fair values at
the acquisition date. The results of the acquired operations are included in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income
from the date on which control is obtained. They are deconsolidated from the date on which the control ceases. The financial
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies.
Losses within a subsidiary are attributable to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
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Particulars of major subsidiaries of the Group are as follows:
			Attributable
Place of
Issued & paid-up
interest held
incorporation
capital
by the Company
Company name

Principal activities

British Virgin Islands
US$10,000
100%
Investment holding
Alexis Resources Limited
GobiMin Investments Limited
British Virgin Islands
US$1,000
100%
Investment holding
Alexis Investments Limited
Hong Kong, China
HK$1
100%
Investment holding
Fine Asia Development Limited
Hong Kong, China
HK$100
100%
Provision of business services
GobiMin Mineral Limited
Hong Kong, China
HK$100
100%
Property holding
GobiMin Silver Limited
British Virgin Islands
US$1,000
100%
Investment holding
Karon Limited
Hong Kong, China
HK$1
100%
Investment holding
Topmax Development Limited
British Virgin Islands
US$1,000
100%
Investment holding
British Virgin Islands
US$1,000
100%
Investment holding
Wreford Enterprises Limited
Xinjiang, China
RMB230,000,000
100%
Investment holding
新疆偉福礦業有限公司
Xinjiang Weifu Mining Limited
Xinjiang, China
RMB30,000,000
100%
Property holding and leasing
新疆戈壁礦業有限公司
Xinjiang Gebi Mining Limited (1)
Xinjiang, China
RMB50,000,000
70%
Exploration and development of
新疆同源礦業有限公司
Xinjiang Tongyuan Minerals Ltd. (1)				 
gold property
Note: (1) unofficial English name translated from Chinese registered name of the company.

(e) Use of Estimates and Judgments

The Group makes estimates about the future that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities. Estimates are continually
evaluated based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. In the future, actual outcome may differ from these estimates and assumptions.
The effect of a change in an accounting estimate is recognized prospectively by including it in comprehensive income in the year of
the change, if the change affects that year only, or in the year of the change and future years, if the change affects both.
Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies and estimates that have the most significant risk of causing
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities recognized in the consolidated financial statements within the next
financial year are discussed below:
i) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures
The application of the Group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure requires judgment in determining
whether it is likely that future economic benefits will flow to the Group, which may be based on assumptions about future events or
circumstances. Judgements made may change if new information becomes available. If, after expenditure is capitalized, information
becomes available suggesting that the recovery of expenditure is unlikely, the amount capitalized is written off in the statement of
comprehensive income in the year the new information becomes available. The Company has determined that there is no indicator of
impairment for the expenditure capitalized as at the reporting date.
ii) Income Taxes
Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognizes
liabilities and contingencies for anticipated tax audit issues based on the Group’s current understanding of the applicable tax law.
For matters where it is probable that an adjustment will be made, the Group records its best estimate of the tax liability including
the related interest and penalties in the current tax provision. Management believes they have adequately provided for the probable
outcome of these matters; however, the final outcome may result in a materially different outcome from the amount included in the tax
liabilities.
iii) Share-based Payment Transactions
The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments
at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions requires determining the most
appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires determining the
most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the stock option, volatility and dividend yield and making
assumptions about them. The assumptions and models used for estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions are
disclosed in Note 18.6.
iv) Functional Currency
The determination the functional currency for the Company’s subsidiaries, jointly controlled entity and associates is a significant
judgement. The determination of functional currency requires the Company to assess the primary economic environment in which
each of these entities operations and affects how the Company translates foreign currency balances and transactions.
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v) Power to Exercise Control, Joint Control or Significant Influence
Significant judgment is required in determining whether the Company has the power to exercise control, joint control or significant
influence on another entity. In making this decision, the Company reviews the degree of influence it has to govern the financial and
operating decisions of another entity.
vi) Carrying Value of Property, Plant and Equipment
Property and equipment are depreciated over their estimated useful economic life which is based upon management’s estimates of
the length of time that the assets will generate revenue, which is periodically reviewed for appropriateness. Changes to these estimates
can result in variations in the amounts charged for depreciation and in the assets’ carrying amounts.
vii) Impairment
Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts
exceed their recoverable amounts and are subject to judgment. Judgment is required in establishing whether there are indicators of
impairment related to these assets such as changes in market price, the extent or manner in which it is being used or in its physical
condition, operations and business environment.
viii) Valuation of Convertible Debentures
The fair value of convertible debentures, which is not traded on an active market, is determined by using valuation techniques. The
group uses its judgment to select a variety of methods and make estimates that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the
end of the reporting period.
ix) Development Stage of a Mine
When the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting mineral resources become demonstrable, previously recognized
exploration and evaluation assets are reclassified as mining structures and mineral properties under property, plant, and equipment.
The determination of when technical feasibility and commercial viability is achieved is subject to significant judgment.
x) Production Stage of a Mine
The determination of the date on which a mine enters production stage is a significant judgment since capitalization of certain costs
ceases upon entering production. As mine is constructed, costs incurred are capitalized and proceeds from mineral sales are offset
against the capitalized costs. This continues until the mine is available for use in the manner intended by management which requires
significant judgment in its determination.
xi) Estimate of Rehabilitation Provision
Management assesses its provision for rehabilitation at the end of each reporting period. This includes the assessment of any changes
to government regulations, estimation of future rehabilitation costs, the timing of these expenditures, and the impact of changes
in discount rates and foreign exchange rates. The actual future expenditure may differ from the amounts currently provided if the
estimates made are significantly different from the actual results or if there are significant changes in environmental and/or regulatory
requirements in the future.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of Consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights currently
exercisable are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.
(ii) Interest in a Jointly-Controlled Entity
A jointly-controlled entity is an entity in which the Group has a long term equity interest of which its financial and operating policies are
under contractual arrangements jointly controlled by the Group and other parties. The Group’s investment in jointly-controlled entity is
accounted for using the equity method whereby it is initially recognized at cost plus the Group’s share of the post-acquisition results
less dividends received.
Unrealized profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its jointly-controlled entity is eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s interest in the jointly-controlled entity, except where unrealized losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred, in which case it is immediately recognized in statement of comprehensive income.
(iii) Interests in Associates
Where the Group has the power to participate in (but not control) the financial and operating policy decisions of another entity, it is
classified as an associate. The Group’s investments in its associates are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity
method, the investment in the associate are initially recognized at cost plus the Group’s share of their post-acquisition results less
dividends received. Goodwill relating to the associates is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortized
nor individually tested for impairment.
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The statements of comprehensive income reflect the share of the results of operations of the associates. Where there has been a
change recognized directly in the equity of the associates, the Group recognizes its share of any changes and discloses this, when
applicable, in the statements of changes in equity. Unrealized gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the
associates are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associates.
The financial statements of the associates are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. Where necessary, adjustments are
made to bring the accounting policies in line with the Group.
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize an additional impairment on the
Group’s investment in its associates. The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the
investment in the associates is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between
the recoverable amount of the associates and its carrying value and recognizes the amount in the share of result of associates in
statement of comprehensive income.
Upon loss of significant influence over the associates, the Group measures and recognizes any retaining investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the associates upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retaining
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognized in statement of comprehensive income.

(b) Foreign Currency Translation

Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies other than the functional currency are recorded at the rates ruling when the
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end of reporting period.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items, are recognized in
statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of nonmonetary items carried at fair value are included in statement of comprehensive income for the period except for differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognized in other comprehensive income, in
which case, the exchange differences are also recognized in other comprehensive income.
On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
United States dollars) at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in
which case, the rates approximating to those ruling when the transactions took place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign
operations are translated at the rate ruling at the end of reporting period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognized in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
Exchange differences recognized in statement of comprehensive income of group entities’ separate financial statement on the
translation of long-term monetary items forming part of the Group’s net investment in the foreign operation concerned are reclassified
to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange reserve.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange differences recognized in the foreign exchange reserve relating to that
operation up to the date of disposal are reclassified to statement of comprehensive income as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

(c) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consists of cash, demand deposits and highly-liquid short term investments with an initial term of 90 days
or less.

(d) Property, Plant and Equipment

On initial recognition, property, plant and equipment is valued at cost, being the purchase price and directly attributable cost of
acquisition or construction required to bring the asset to the location and condition necessary to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by the Group, including borrowing costs. Property, plant and equipment are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment. Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful life of the asset with an estimated residual value of 0 - 5%. The annual depreciation rates are as follows:
Leasehold land & buildings:
Leasehold improvement:
Furniture, fixture and equipment:
Computer hardware & equipment:
Motor vehicles:

4.75%
19% - 33.33%
19% - 33.33%
19% - 33.33%
19% - 25%

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognized is derecognized upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in statement of comprehensive
income when the asset is derecognized.
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted
prospectively, if appropriate.

PAGE

28

GobiMin Inc.

Annual Report 2012

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2012
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable
that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognized in
statement of comprehensive income as incurred.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to statement of comprehensive income during the financial year in which they
are incurred.

(e) Investment Properties

Investment properties are properties held either to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or for both, but not held for sale in the
ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. Investment properties
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment, if any. Depreciation is charged so as to write off the
cost of investment properties net of expected residual value over the estimated useful live using straight-line method. The useful live,
residual value and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
Investment properties are derecognized upon disposal or when the investment properties are permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income in the year in which the property is derecognized.

(f) Exploration and Evaluation Assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are recognized at cost on initial recognition upon the licence to explore the property has been
acquired. Subsequent to initial recognition, exploration and evaluation assets are stated at cost less any accumulated impairment.
Exploration and evaluation assets include the cost of mining and exploration rights and the expenditures incurred in the search for
mineral resources as well as the determination of the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting those resources.
When the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting mineral resources become demonstrable, previously recognized
exploration and evaluation assets are reclassified as mining structures and mineral properties under property, plant and equipment.
The Group assesses exploration and evaluation assets for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount
of an asset may exceed its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. Those exploration and evaluation expenditure costs, in excess of estimated recoverable amount, are written off to the
statement of comprehensive income.

(g) Income Taxes

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred income tax. Income tax expense is recognized in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in shareholders’ equity.
Current income tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the reporting date, and any adjustment to income tax payable in respect of previous years.
Deferred income tax is recognized using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred income tax is not
recognized on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination, and at the time of the
transaction, affects neither accounting income nor taxable income. Deferred income tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected
to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting date.
A deferred income tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the
temporary difference can be utilized. Deferred income tax assets are reviewed at each reporting dates and are reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

(h) Employee Benefits

(i) Defined Contribution Plans
Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong are required to contribute to a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) as required under and in accordance with the requirements of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance of Hong Kong. Employer’s contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to the statement of comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in China are required to participate in defined contribution retirement schemes administered
and operated by the respective local authorities. Employer’s contributions are made in accordance with the local mandatory
requirements. The employer’s contributions are charged to the statement of comprehensive income as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

PAGE

GobiMin Inc.

Annual Report 2012

29

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2012
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

(ii) Share-based payments:
Where equity-settled share options are awarded to employees, the fair value of the options at the date of grant is charged to the
statements of comprehensive income over the vesting period. Performance vesting conditions are taken into account by adjusting
the number of equity instruments expected to vest at each reporting date so that, ultimately, the cumulative amount recognized over
the vesting period is based on the number of options that eventually vest. Non-vesting conditions and market vesting conditions are
factored into the fair value of the options granted. As long as all other vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge is made irrespective of
whether these vesting conditions are satisfied. The cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure to achieve a market vesting condition
or where a non-vesting condition is not satisfied.
Where the terms and conditions of options are modified before they vest, the increase in the fair value of the options, measured
immediately before and after the modification, is also charged to the statements of comprehensive income over the remaining vesting
period.
Where equity instruments are granted to employees, they are recorded at the fair value of the equity instrument granted at the grant
date. The grant date fair value is recognized in statement of comprehensive income over the vesting period, described as the period
during which all the vesting conditions are to be satisfied.
Where equity instruments are granted to non-employees, they are recorded at the fair value of the goods or services received in the
statement of comprehensive income. Options or warrants granted related to the issuance of shares are recorded as a reduction of
share capital.
When the value of goods or services received in exchange for the share-based payment cannot be reliably estimated, the fair value is
measured by use of a valuation model.
All equity-settled share-based payments are reflected in contributed surplus, until exercised. Upon exercise, shares are issued from
treasury and the amount reflected in contributed surplus is credited to share capital, adjusted for any consideration paid.
Where a grant of options is cancelled or settled during the vesting period, excluding forfeitures when service or non-market vesting
conditions are not satisfied, the Company immediately accounts for the cancellation as an acceleration of vesting and recognizes the
amount that otherwise would have been recognized for services received over the remainder of the vesting period. Any payment made
to the employee on the cancellation is accounted for as the repurchase of an equity interest except to the extent the payment exceeds
the fair value of the equity instrument granted, measured at the repurchase date. Any such excess is recognized as an expense.

(i) Revenue recognition

Interest income from financial assets is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount.
Rental income is recognized on a straight line basis over the term of the lease.
Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established.

(j) Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing the net income applicable to common shares of the Company by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding for the relevant year.
Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common shares by the sum of the weighted
average number of common shares issued and outstanding and all additional common shares that would have been outstanding, if
potentially dilutive instruments were converted.

(k) Rehabilitation Provision

The Group is subject to various government laws and regulations relating to environmental disturbances caused by exploration
and evaluation activities. The Group records the present value of the estimated costs of legal and constructive obligations required
to restore the exploration sites in the period in which the obligation is incurred. The nature of the rehabilitation activities includes
restoration, reclamation and re-vegetation of the affected exploration sites.
The rehabilitation provision generally arises when the environmental disturbance is subject to government laws and regulations. When
the liability is recognized, the present value of the estimated costs is capitalized by increasing the carrying amount of the related
mining assets. Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the changes in present value based on current market discount rates
and liability specific risks.
All the exploration and development sites of the Group are located in desert area in Northern China and management believes that
any liability after an eventual mine site retirement is immaterial. The amount of the liability will be subject to re-measurement at each
reporting period. It is possible that the Group’s estimates of its ultimate mine site rehabilitation liabilities could change as a result of
changes in regulations, the extent of environmental remediation required as a result of any of its properties going into commercial
production, the means of reclamation or the cost estimates. Changes in estimates are accounted for prospectively from the period the
estimate is revised.
The Group has not recorded a liability for its rehabilitation provision.
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(l) Financial instruments

(i) Financial assets:
1. Initial recognition and measurement:
Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through statement of comprehensive income,
loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.
All financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case of assets not at fair value through the statement of
comprehensive income, directly attributable transaction costs.
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace (regular way trades) are recognized on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
The Group’s financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, loans and receivables and quoted and unquoted financial
instruments.
2. Subsequent measurement:
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method (EIR),
less impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the EIR. The losses arising from impairment are recognized in statements of comprehensive income.
Held-to-maturity investments
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities are classified as held-to-maturity when the
Group has the positive intention and ability to hold them to maturity. After initial measurement, held-to-maturity investments are
measured at amortized cost using the EIR, less impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The losses arising from impairment are recognized in
statements of comprehensive income.
Available-for-sale financial investments
These assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not included in other categories of
financial assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, these assets are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in other
comprehensive income, except for impairment and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary instruments, which are recognized
in statement of comprehensive income.
For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity instruments, they are
measured at cost less any identified impairment.
3. Derecognition:
A financial asset is derecognized when:
a.

The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired.

b.

The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (1) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (2) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of it, the asset is
recognized to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in it.
In that case, the Group also recognizes an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
4. Impairment of financial assets:
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and
that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be
reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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a.	Financial assets carried at amortized cost
For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually
for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment is, or continues to be, recognized are not included
in a collective assessment of impairment.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
assets’ carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not
yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment is the current effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized
in statement of comprehensive income. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment. The interest income is
recorded as part of finance income in statement of comprehensive income. Loans together with the associated allowance are written
off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realized or has been transferred to the Group.
If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a
future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to finance costs in statement of comprehensive income.
b. Available-for-sale financial investments
For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that an
investment or a group of investments is impaired.
In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of the investment below its cost. ‘Significant’ is evaluated against the original cost of the investment and ‘prolonged’
against the period in which the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment on that investment previously
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income - is removed from other comprehensive income and recognized in statement of
comprehensive income. Impairment on equity investments are not reversed through statement of comprehensive income; increases in
their fair value after impairments are recognized directly in other comprehensive income.
For available-for-sale equity investment that is stated at cost, the amount of impairment is measured as the difference between the
carrying amount of the asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Such impairment is not reversed.
(ii) Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through statement of comprehensive
income, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group
determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.
All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, carried at amortized cost. This
includes directly attributable transaction costs.
The Group’s financial liabilities include other payables, accrued liabilities and loans and borrowings.
1. Subsequent measurement
After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the EIR. Gains
and losses are recognized in statement of comprehensive income when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the EIR
amortization process.
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in finance costs in statement of comprehensive income.
2. Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and
the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in statement of comprehensive
income.

(m) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount that have arisen as a result of past transactions, including legal
or constructive obligations. The provision is measured at the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the
reporting date. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to
settle the obligation.
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Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(n) Dividends

Dividends proposed or declared after the reporting date are not recognized as a liability in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

(o) Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
(i) The Group as lessor:
Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
(ii) The Group as lessee:
Assets held under finance leases are recognized as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at
the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is recognized as a finance lease obligation.
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are expensed directly.
Rentals payable under operating leases are expensed on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are recognized as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on
a straight-line basis.

(p) Related Parties

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, a party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(i)

the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, to control the Group or exercise significant
influence over the Group in making financial and operating policy decisions, or has joint control over the Group;

(ii) the Group and the party are subject to common control;
(iii) the party is an associate of the Group or a jointly-controlled entity in which the Group is a venturer;
(iv) the party is a member of key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent, or a close family member of such an
individual, or is an entity under the control, joint control or significant influence of such individuals;
(v) the party is a close family member of a party referred to in (i) or is an entity under the control, joint control or significant influence
of such individuals.
Close family members of an individual are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that
individual in their dealings with the entity.
A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related
parties.

(q) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

Impairment tests on intangible assets with indefinite useful economic lives are undertaken annually at the financial year-end. Other
non-financial assets, including exploration and evaluation assets are subject to impairment tests whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. Where the carrying value of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell, the asset is written down accordingly.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the impairment test is carried out on the asset’s
cash-generating unit, which is the group of assets for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows that are largely independent
of the cash inflows from other assets. The Company has one cash-generating unit for which impairment testing is performed.
An impairment is charged to statement of comprehensive income, except to the extent they reverse gains previously recognized in
other comprehensive income.

(r) Share Capital

Equity instruments are contracts that give a residual interest in the net assets of the Company. Financial instruments issued by the
Company are classified as equity only to the extent that they do not meet the definition of a financial liability or financial asset.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.
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4.	FUTURE CHANGES IN SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
At the date of authorization of these consolidated financial statements, the following standards and interpretations, potentially relevant
to the Group’s consolidated financial statements, were issued but not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group.
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

Issue Date

Effective Date

IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments: Amendments to provide guidance on the
recognition, derecognition, classification and reclassification of financial
instruments, their measurement and the presentation of gains and losses.

October 2010 &
updated in
November 2011

Annual periods
beginning on or after
January 1, 2015

IAS 12 - Income Taxes - Amendments regarding Deferred Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets to provide a practical approach for measuring deferred tax
liabilities and deferred tax assets when investment property is measured using the
fair value model.

December 2010

Annual periods
beginning on or
after July 1, 2012

IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements: This standard replaces the current
IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. The standard identifies the
concept of control as the determining factor in whether an entity should be included
within the consolidated financial statements of the parent company.

May 2011

Annual periods
beginning on or after
January 1, 2013

IFRS 12 - Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: This standard requires
disclosures of information that allows users to evaluate the nature, impact of and
risk associated with our interests in joint arrangements, associates and other
entities.

May 2011

Annual periods
beginning on or after
January 1, 2013

IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurements: This standard defines fair value, provides
guidance on its determination and introduces consistent requirements for
disclosures on fair value measurements.

May 2011

Annual periods
beginning on or after
January 1, 2013

Amendments to IAS 1 - Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income:
The amendment provides guidance on the presentation of items contained in other
comprehensive income (“OCI”) and their classification within OCI.

May 2011

Annual periods
beginning on or after
January 1, 2013

IAS 28 - Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: This standard describes
the application of the equity method to investments. The amendment includes the
application of equity method in joint ventures in addition to associates.

May 2011

Annual periods
beginning on or after
January 1, 2013

IFRS 11 - Joint Arrangements: This standard addresses inconsistencies in the
reporting of joint arrangements by requiring joint operations to be accounted for
by recognizing its interest in the joint operations assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses and joint ventures to be accounted for using the equity method.

September 2011

Annual periods
beginning on or after
January 1, 2013

IFRIC 20 - Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine establishes
when the costs incurred to remove mine waste materials to gain access to mineral
ore deposits during the production phase of a surface mine should lead to the
recognition of an asset and how that asset should be measured.

November 2011

Annual periods
beginning on or after
January 1, 2013

Amendments to IFRS 7 - Disclosure of Financial Instruments:
The amendment requires the disclosure of information in respect of all transferred
financial assets that are not derecognized in their entirety, and for any continuing
involvement in transferred assets which are derecognized, which exists at the
reporting date, irrespective of when the related transfer transaction occurred.

December 2011

Annual periods
beginning on or after
January 1, 2013

Amendments to IAS32 - Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities:
This standard clarifies that a legally enforceable right to set-off exists if the right is
not contingent on a future event, and is enforceable both in the normal course of
business and in default, insolvency or bankruptcy of all parties to the liability.

December 2011

Annual periods
beginning on or after
January 1, 2014
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5. RESTATEMENT OF DISPOSAL OF YANXI COPPER PROPERTY
In 2010, the Company recognized a sale on the disposal of its 32% equity interest in the Yanxi Copper Property to China Daye NonFerrous Metals Mining Limited (“China Daye”). The Company derecognized the related equity interest in 2010 and recognized a
deferred gain of $5,682,689 to reflect the work yet to be completed with respect to the sale. The sale was, however contingent on the
Company obtaining the required mining licence for the property. The agreement allowed for the unwinding of the transaction if the
mining licence was not obtained in its entirety by the due date specified, unless both parties agreed to the extension of the due date.
Prior to obtaining the required licence, the transaction did not constitute a sale but rather a deposit of proceeds for a future sale
pending satisfaction of the remaining condition. The investment in the associate and accordingly the Yanxi Copper Property does not
qualify for derecognition until the sale becomes unconditional. The Company has, therefore restated the amounts previously presented
at December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2011 to eliminate the previously recognized disposal.
The effect of the restatement on the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at December 31, 2010 was as follows:

December 31, 2010
Statement of Financial Position
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Interest in associates
Other financial assets
Other payables and accrued liabilities
Deferred gain on disposal of associates
Retained earnings

Previously
reported
$
19,206,004
7,098,213
16,771,975
28,225,467
5,682,689
48,952,863

Adjustment

Restated

$
(11,454,312)
1,102,329
(223,174)
(4,934,231)
(5,682,689)
41,763

$
7,751,692
8,200,542
16,548,801
23,291,236
48,994,626

The adjustments made are as follows:
1.

The proceeds received from China Daye as at December 31, 2010 have been reclassified from the deferred gain to reflect the
liability to repay China Daye if the sale is not completed;

2.

All accruals for future costs related to the sale (agency fees and costs to obtain the licence) have been reversed;

3.

The investment has continued to be equity accounted.

The effect of the restatement on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2011 was as follows:
December 31, 2011
Statement of Financial Position
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Interest in associates
Other financial assets
Other payables and accrued liabilities
Deferred gain on disposal of associates
Retained earnings

Previously
reported
$
19,341,000
2,113,541
14,106,188
28,250,606
5,682,689
50,769,706

Adjustment
$
(11,454,311)
1,025,969
208,028
(4,964,592)
(5,682,689)
10,911

Restated
$
7,886,689
3,139,510
13,898,160
23,286,014
50,780,617
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The adjustments made at December 31, 2011 are consistent with those made at December 31, 2010. The prior period adjustment
had the following impact on the profit and total comprehensive income, basic and fully diluted earnings per share for the year ended
December 31, 2011:
For the year ended December 31, 2011
Statement of Comprehensive Income
General and administrative expenses
Share of results of associates
Exchange (loss)/gain

Previously reported

Adjustment

Restated

$
(4,951,789)
170,240
(52,880)

$
25,556
(127,783)
71,375

$
(4,926,233)
42,457
18,495

Profit for the year

2,517,276

(30,852)

2,486,424

Total comprehensive income for the year

4,476,871

(30,852)

4,446,019

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

4,739,491
(262,620)

(30,852)
-

4,708,639
(262,620)

4,476,871

(30,852)

4,446,019

Net earnings per share
Basic and diluted

0.05

-

0.05

There was no significant impact on the statement of cash flows as the changes to profit for the year were offset by adjustments for
items not involving cash.

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents held in different locations:
December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

Canada
Hong Kong
China

$
26,906
24,276,195
22,304,926

$
87,226
27,709,519
34,508,889

Total

46,608,027

62,305,634

Bank location

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However, under China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorized to conduct foreign exchange business.
The fair market values of cash and cash equivalents approximate their carrying values at the respective year end.
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7. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
		(Restated)
As at
December 31, 2012
December 31, 2011
Deferred expenditure (Note 7.1)
Prepayments
Deposits (Note 7.2)
Other receivables

$
2,060,713
18,605
1,624,576
104,009

$
968,805
6,755,850
162,034

3,807,903

7,886,689

7.1 Deferred expenditure

Pursuant to the supplemental agreement dated May 31, 2012 in relation to the disposal of Yanxi Copper Property, the Group was
entitled to an additional consideration of $10,831,459 (HK$84,160,440) based on the resource estimate of the area which is adjacent
to the Yanxi Copper Property (the “New Area”). In return the Group is responsible for applying for a mining licence for the New Area.
The licence should be obtained on or before June 30, 2014. At December 31, 2012, the Group had incurred expenditure of $2,060,713
in relation to the mining licence application and this expenditure was recognized as deferred expenditure .

7.2 Deposits

For the year ended December 31, 2012, decrease in deposits are mainly caused by the following transactions:
a) A deposit of $6,352,638 (RMB40,000,000) at December 31, 2011 was reclassified as exploration and evaluation assets after
obtaining the exploration and mining licence of the Sawayaerdun Gold Project (“Gold Project”) in 2012.
b) A deposit of $1,508,018 (RMB9,495,381) was paid for construction work of the office building, mine design and related facilities
of the Gold Project during the year.

8. AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES / AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE
As at December 31, 2012, the amounts due from an associate included an advance of $2,012,755 to China Precision Material
Limited (“China Precision”) and dividend of $61,802 (2011: nil) receivable from China Precision, in which the Group has an indirect
equity interest of 48.02%. The advance is unsecured, bears interest rate at 2% per annum and is due on demand.
As at December 31, 2011, the amounts due from associates were $5,511,765, of which $5,157,729 was the advance made to
China Precision. Such advance is unsecured, bears interest rate at 2% per annum and has no fixed repayment terms. The remaining
balance of $354,036 represented the interest payable by China Precision and the current account with CPM Silver Limited which
are unsecured, interest-free and with no fixed repayment terms. The Group has an indirect equity interest of 48.02% in CPM Silver
Limited.
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Leasehold
land &
building

Leasehold
improvements

$
423,786
23,135
4,007
-

$
121,135
-

$
306,993
13,496
53,288
(872)

$
637
29
-

$
847,074
29,140
150,972
(184,014)

$
1,699,625
65,800
208,267
(184,886)

Balance at December 31, 2011

450,928

121,135

372,905

666

843,172

1,788,806

Exchange differences
Reclassification from exploration
and evaluation assets
Additions
Disposals

4,782

1,274

3,952

7

8,922

18,937

105,661
208,256
-

-

5,244
-

-

622,827
(377,281)

105,661
836,327
(377,281)

Balance at December 31, 2012

769,627

122,409

382,101

673

1,097,640

2,372,450

10,319
482
24,383
-

104,311
16,824
-

43,484
1,253
47,533
(215)

127
6
133
-

388,748
9,720
138,896
(182,454)

546,989
11,461
227,769
(182,669)

Balance at December 31, 2011

35,184

121,135

92,055

266

354,910

603,550

Exchange differences
Depreciation for the year
Disposals

126
37,373
-

1,274
-

975
53,177
-

3
123
-

10,759
215,310
(202,483)

13,137
305,983
(202,483)

Balance at December 31, 2012

72,683

122,409

146,207

392

378,496

720,187

Net book value:
At December 31, 2011

415,744

-

280,850

400

488,262

1,185,256

At December 31, 2012

696,944

-

235,894

281

719,144

1,652,263

Cost:
Balance at January 1, 2011
Exchange differences
Additions
Disposals

Depreciation and impairment:
Balance at January 1, 2011
Exchange differences
Depreciation for the year
Disposals

Furniture,
fixture &
equipment

Computer
hardware &
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Total

At December 31, 2012, the net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment of the Group includes motor vehicles of $106,123
(2011: $164,674) in respect of assets held under finance leases. None of the leases includes contingent rentals. Leased assets are
pledged as security for related finance lease.
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10. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Total
Cost:
Balance at January 1, 2011
Exchange differences
Additions

$
2,593,585
144,305
27,756

Balance at December 31, 2011
Exchange differences

2,765,646
29,326

Balance at December 31, 2012

2,794,972

Depreciation and impairment:
Balance at January 1, 2011
Exchange differences
Depreciation for the year

61,593
2,872
130,087

Balance at December 31, 2011

194,552

Exchange differences
Depreciation for the year

348
132,750

Balance at December 31, 2012

327,650

Net book value:
At December 31, 2011

2,571,094

At December 31, 2012

2,467,322

Investment properties comprised commercial properties in China that are leased to third parties and related parties (Note 24.2).
Investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment, if any.
The above investment properties are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 20 years. The Group’s investment properties are under a
remaining land lease term of 38 years.
The estimated fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at December 31, 2012 was approximately $8,108,460
(2011: $4,269,019). The estimated fair value was arrived at based on a property valuation assessment by a real estate appraiser.

11. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
Mining rights
Note (a)
Cost:
Balance at January 1, 2011
Exchange differences
Additions

Others
Note (b)

Total

$
1,037,717
48,409
-

$
1,138,031
53,078
9,441,667

$
2,175,748
101,487
9,441,667

Balance at December 31, 2011

1,086,126

10,632,776

11,718,902

Exchange differences
Additions
Reclassification to property, plant and equipment

11,517
7,108,826
-

112,758
11,102,259
(105,661)

124,275
18,211,085
(105,661)

Balance at December 31, 2012

8,206,469

21,742,132

29,948,601

-

-

-

Net carrying amount:
At December 31, 2011

1,086,126

10,632,776

11,718,902

At December 31, 2012

8,206,649

21,742,132

29,948,601

Depreciation and impairment:
Balance at December 31, 2011 and 2012
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Note:
(a) The mining rights represents the mining and exploration rights of the Gold Project which is located 200 km northwest of the city of Kashi, western
Xinjiang, China. The mining licence was granted for an initial period of 8 years and the exploration licence was granted for an initial period of 1.5
years. As at December 31, 2012, the remaining valid period of the mining licence was 5 years and exploration licence was 1 year.
(b) Others represent the geological and geophysical costs, mine site and facilities construction, drilling and exploration expenses for the Gold Project.

12. INTEREST IN A JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITY
As at

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

$
825,227

$
857,696

Share of net assets

The summarized financial information in respect of the Group’s jointly-controlled entity is as follows:
As at

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

$
1,640,365
19,626
(9,537)
-

$
1,707,862
19,984
(12,454)
-

Net assets

1,650,454

1,715,392

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

For the year ended
Income
Expenses

$
50,391
(9,586)

$
670,425
(47,183)

Profit before income tax
Income tax

40,805
(8,590)

623,242
(12,946)

Profit for the year

32,215

610,296

Group’s share of results of a jointly-controlled entity for the year

16,108

305,148

Particulars of the jointly-controlled entity as at December 31, 2012:
			Attributable
Place of
Total issued and
interest held by
Company name
incorporation
paid-up capital
the Company

Principal activities

新疆興亞礦業有限責任公司
Xinjiang Xinya Minerals Ltd. 1

Exploration of mineral resources

Xinjiang, China

RMB10,000,000

50%

Note: (1) unofficial English name translated from Chinese registered name of the company.

13. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
As at

Share of net assets
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The summarized financial information in respect of the Group’s associates is as follows:
		(Restated)
As at
December 31, 2012
December 31, 2011
$
20,448,638
(15,526,436)

Total assets
Total liabilities

$
26,145,211
(18,569,793)

4,922,202

Net assets

7,575,418

		(Restated)
For the year ended
December 31, 2012
December 31, 2011
$
140,365,556

$
178,366,937

Profit for the year

821,611

62,292

Group’s share of results of associates for the year

415,041

42,457

Revenue

Particulars of associates as at December 31, 2012:
			Attributable
Place of
Total issued
interest held by
Company name
incorporation
and paid-up capital
the Company

Principal activities

China Precision Material Limited

Hong Kong, China

HK$10,000,000

48.02%

Trading of silver

CPM Silver Limited

Hong Kong, China

HK$10,000

48.02%

Processing of silver

United Bridge Limited

Hong Kong, China

HK$10,000

48.02%

Property holding

新疆同安礦業有限公司
Xinjiang Tongan Minerals Limited (1)

Xinjiang, China

RMB5,000,000

40.00%

Exploration of mineral resources

新疆天宏礦業有限責任公司
Xinjiang Tianhong Minerals Limited (1)

Xinjiang, China

RMB10,000,000

40.00%

Exploration of mineral resources

新疆同德礦業有限責任公司
Xinjiang Tongde Minerals Limited (1)

Xinjiang, China

RMB10,000,000

40.00%

Exploration of mineral resources

Note: (1) unofficial English name translated from Chinese registered name of the company.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, China Precision increased its paid-up capital by $1,285,714 (HK$9,990,000), resulting in a
deemed disposal of the equity interest in China Precision from 49% to 48.02%. Loss on the deemed disposal amounting to $13,186
(HK$102,455) was recognized in statement of comprehensive income.
As at December 31, 2011 (restated), the interest in associates included a 40% equity interest in Xinjiang Tongxing Minerals Limited
(“Tongxing”) of $1,025,969. In 2012, the Group disposed of a 32% equity interest of Tongxing to China Daye and the remaining 8%
equity interest has been reclassified as available-for-sale financial asset.

14. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Current portion of other financial assets
As at

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

		
Convertible bonds
(14.1)

$
26,620,721

$
-

Total		

26,620,721

-

Note
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Non-current portion of other financial assets
As at

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

		
(14.1)
Convertible bonds
(14.2)
Listed debentures
Available-for-sale financial asset
(14.3)

$
1,035,190
3,333,333

$
13,068,740
829,420
-

Total		

4,368,523

13,898,160

Note

14.1 Convertible bonds

It represents convertible bonds with principal amount of $28,314,028 (HK$220,000,000) (2011: $14,157,014 (HK$110,000,000))
issued by China Daye in relation to the disposal of the equity interest in the Yanxi Copper Property. These bonds are convertible into
common shares of China Daye on or before the maturity date of December 31, 2013 at $0.068 (HK$0.528) per share and bear
interest at the rate of 1% per annum for the period from July 22, 2010 to July 22, 2012 if the Group does not exercise the conversion
right on or before the maturity date. The convertible bonds are stated at $26,620,721 (2011: $13,068,740) based on the fair value as
determined by an independent professional valuator as at December 31, 2012. Accordingly, a loss on change in fair value of $605,033
(2011: $2,652,754) was recognized in the statement of comprehensive income for the year.

14.2 Listed debentures

It represents the listed debentures held by the Group at year end with coupon rate range from 5.125% to 9.75% per annum and
maturity ending on December 23, 2013 to perpetual.

14.3 Available-for-sale financial asset

The Group completed the sale of a 32% equity interest of Yanxi Copper Property in August 2012. The remaining 8% equity interest in
Tongxing owned by the Group was reclassified as available-for sale financial asset and recorded at its estimated fair value of $3,333,333.
A fair value gain representing the difference between the fair value and the carrying cost of $3,146,560 has been recognized in
the statement of comprehensive income. The fair value is determined by reference to the consideration paid by China Daye in its
acquisition of the 80% equity interest in Tongxing. Subsequently, the 8% equity interest is measured at cost less any identified
impairment loss.

15. DEPOSIT PAID TO RELATED PARTIES
(a) A deposit of $79,408 (2011: $419,719) was paid to a non-controlling shareholder of an associate for the exploration services on
its exploration projects.
(b) A deposit of $500,742 (2011: $500,742) was paid to a non-controlling shareholder of a non-wholly owned subsidiary for
exploration services.
The deposit paid to related parties will be reclassified as additions to exploration and evaluation assets upon the completion of
exploration services.

16. OTHER PAYABLES, RECEIPTS IN ADVANCE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
As at December 31, 2012, the balances of other payables, receipts in advance and accrued liabilities comprised mainly the payable
for the mining licence fee, stamp duty and related payments of approximately $21.0 million arising on the disposal of the Yanxi Copper
Property.
		(Restated)
As at
December 31, 2012
December 31, 2011
Other payables
Accrued liabilities
Receipts in advance
Deposit received
Obligation under finance leases - current

$
23,451,713
655,815
100,980
5,582,164
46,673

$
471,835
662,410
119,857
21,987,017
44,895

29,837,345

23,286,014

At December 31, 2012, deposit received included an amount of $5,415,730 (HK$42,080,220) received from China Daye as partial
settlement of the consideration for the New Area. At December 31, 2011, deposited received included an amount of $21,879,022
(HK$170,000,000) received from China Daye for the disposal of a 32% equity interest in the Yanxi Copper Property.
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At December 31, 2012 the Group has obligation under finance leases of $79,053 (2011: $127,737). Future lease payments are due
as follows:
Minimum lease
payments

Interest

Present value

Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive

$
49,449
32,966

$
2,776
586

$
46,673
32,380

Total

82,415

3,362

79,053

Minimum lease
payments

Interest

Present value

$
49,555
86,535

$
4,660
3,693

$
44,895
82,842

136,090

8,353

127,737

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

$
46,673
32,380

$
44,895
82,842

Total present value of future lease payments

79,053

127,737

As at December 31, 2012

As at December 31, 2011
Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive
Total
As at

17. INCOME TAX
The Group’s provision for income taxes reported differs from the amounts computed by applying the cumulative Canadian federal and
provincial income tax rates to the profit before income tax as a result of the following:
		(Restated)
For the year ended
December 31, 2012
December 31, 2011
Profit before income tax
Statutory tax rates

$
6,286,605
26.5%

$
2,486,424
28%

Tax charged at statutory tax rates
Tax rate differential
Non-taxable revenues
Non-deductible expenses
Operating losses not set up as deferred tax asset
Tax effect of tax losses utilized

1,665,950
1,817,259
(70,129)
(619,855)
615,897
-

696,199
148,795
(3,370,404)
2,600,858
(75,448)

Tax expense

3,409,122

-
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The components of the income tax expenses are as follows:
For the year ended

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

$

$

Current income tax expense
Deferred income tax expense

3,409,122

-

Tax expense

3,409,122

-

As at December 31, 2012, the Group has recognized a deferred tax liability as a result of temporary timing differences between tax
and accounting arising from the recognition of the gain on the disposal of the Yanxi Copper Property of $2,639,189 and fair value
adjustment on the available for sale financial asset of $769,933.
As at December 31, 2012, the Group has unused tax losses of $4,726,516 (2011: $4,688,725) available for offset future profits which
is subject to the final approval of respective tax authorities. As at December 31, 2012, no deferred tax asset has been recognized in
respect of the unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The Canadian federal and provincial income tax
rates have decreased from 28% to 26.5% due to the reduction of federal income tax rates in Canada. The following table summarized
the unrecognized tax losses by year of expiry:
Unrecognized tax losses
For the year ended

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

$

$

- December 31, 2031
- December 31, 2030
- December 31, 2029
- December 31, 2028
- December 31, 2027
- December 31, 2026
- December 31, 2025
- December 31, 2015
- December 31, 2014

90,043
529,667
711,808
1,092,208
969,492
874,982
458,316
-

409,881
699,899
1,073,934
953,271
860,343
503,419
25,147
162,831

Total

4,726,516

4,688,725

Year of expiry
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18. SHARE CAPITAL, WARRANTS AND STOCK OPTIONS
18.1 Common Shares
Number

Amount

Authorized:		$
Unlimited number of common shares
Issued and outstanding:
Balance, December 31, 2010

65,890,837

Shares repurchased and cancelled

(3,294,541)

28,874,192
(1,412,881)

Balance, December 31, 2011

62,596,296

27,461,311

Shares repurchased and cancelled

(3,129,814)

(1,342,237)

Balance, December 31, 2012

59,466,482

26,119,074

18.2 Preferred Shares

The Company did not authorize or issue any preferred shares for 2011 and 2012.

18.3 General Reserve

The general reserve represents China statutory reserves maintained at the Group’s Chinese operating subsidiaries. During the years
ended December 31, 2011 and 2012, there was no movement in reserve.

18.4 Translation Reserve

Translation reserve represents net unrealized exchange gain on translation of foreign operations.

18.5 Normal Course Issuer Bid

On January 20, 2012, GobiMin renewed its normal course issuer bid to repurchase up to an additional 3,129,814 common shares
(2011: 3,294,541), representing approximately 5% of the then common shares outstanding. Purchases are made in accordance with
applicable regulations over a maximum period of 12 months ended January 31, 2013. For the year ended December 31, 2012, a
total of 3,129,814 common shares (2011: 3,294,541) were repurchased for an aggregate cost of $1,995,427 (CAD2,029,381) (2011:
$2,638,404 (CAD2,621,534)). All shares repurchased are returned to treasury for cancellation.

18.6 Stock Options

On May 26, 2005, the Company adopted a resolution cancelling all of its outstanding stock option plans and creating a new stock
option plan to grant options to its employees, directors and officers to purchase common shares. A total number of 6,700,000
(2011: 6,700,000) common shares were reserved for issuance pursuant to the exercise of options to be granted under the plan.
a)

Status of the outstanding employee stock options as at December 31, 2012 and changes during the year:
2012
Number
Weighted Average
of Options
Exercise Price

2011
Number
Weighted Average
of Options
Exercise Price

Outstanding, beginning of year
Issued on November 23, 2011
Forfeited

3,159,000
(327,000)

$		$
1.14
0.87
2,519,400
1,569,000
0.60
1.15
2.42
(929,400)

Outstanding, end of year

2,832,000

0.69

3,159,000

0.87
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b)

Summary of the employee stock options outstanding and exercisable:

				
Weighted
			
Number of
Average
Exercise
Exercise
Options
Remaining
Price
Price
Outstanding Contractual Life

Weighted		
Weighted
Average
Number of
Average
Exercise
Options
Remaining
Price
Exercisable Contractual Life

CAD
$ 		
As at December 31, 2012
1.10
1.06
94,000
0.79
0.76
1,000,000
0.79
0.76
283,000
0.60
0.60
1,300,000
0.60
0.60
155,000

(Years)

$ 		

0.67
0.50
2.50
2.00
4.00

1.06
0.76
0.76
0.60
0.60

			
2,832,000

1.59

As at December 31, 2011
3.60
3.61
1.10
1.06
0.79
0.76
0.79
0.76
0.60
0.60
0.60
0.60
0.60
0.60

196,000
97,000
1,000,000
297,000
1,300,000
100,000
169,000

			

3,159,000

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

(Years)

$

94,000
1,000,000
169,800
780,000
62,000

0.67
0.50
2.50
2.00
4.00

1.06
0.76
0.76
0.60
0.60

0.69

2,105,800

1.33

0.71

0.59
1.67
1.50
3.50
3.00
1.00
5.00

3.61
1.06
0.76
0.76
0.60
0.60
0.60

196,000
77,600
600,000
118,800
100,000
-

0.59
1.67
1.50
3.50
3.00
1.00
5.00

3.61
1.06
0.76
0.76
0.60
0.60
0.60

2.43

0.87

1,092,400

1.52

1.28

(i)

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the options exercisable as at December 31, 2012 was 1.33 years (2011: 1.52
years).
(ii) The weighted average remaining contractual life for the options outstanding as at December 31, 2012 was 1.59 years (2011: 2.43
years).
(iii) The range of exercise price for options outstanding as at December 31, 2012 was $0.60 to $1.06 (2011: $0.60 to $3.61).
c) Share-Based Payments
There were no options granted during the year. The Company determines fair value of the employee stock options using the BlackScholes option pricing model. In determining the fair value of these employee stock options, the following assumptions were used:
Grant date
Exercise Price (CAD)
Expected life (year)
Expected volatility
Dividend yield
Discount rate
Forfeiture rate

Nov 23, 2011

Nov 23, 2011

July 7, 2010

July 7, 2010

Aug 25, 2008

0.6000
3
53%
0.40%
0%

0.6000
5
53%
0.88%
0%

0.7900
3
48%
1.01%
0%

0.7900
5
48%
1.79%
0%

1.1000
5
90%
3.22%
0%

The expected life of the stock options is based on historical data and current expectations and is not necessarily indicative of exercise
patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumptions that the historical volatility over a period similar to the life of
the options is indicative of future trends, which may not necessarily be the actual outcome either.
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18.7 Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share
		(Restated)
For the year ended
December 31, 2012
December 31, 2011
Net earnings available to shareholders
Basic and diluted

$3,358,855

$2,874,810

Weighted average number of shares outstanding
Basic
Effect of dilutive stock options and warrants
Diluted

61,040,538
61,040,538

63,621,261
63,621,261

$0.06

$0.05

Basic and diluted earnings per share

The stock options outstanding during the prior year had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share and as such, the
conversion of the above potential dilutive shares is not assumed in the computation of diluted earnings per share.

19. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
Non-controlling interests represent the 30% (2011: 30%) equity interest in Tongyuan not held by the Group.

20. OTHER REVENUE
For the year ended
Interest income
Rental income
Others
Total other revenue

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

$
941,986
201,580
-

$
667,375
202,831
5,000

1,143,566

875,206

21. NATURE OF EXPENSES
The Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income include the following general and administrative expenses by nature:

21.1 Employee Costs (including remuneration of key management and directors as stated in note 24.1)
For the year ended

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

Wages and other benefits
Payment to defined contribution plans
Share-based payment

$
2,935,363
110,640
280,302

$
1,800,000
93,438
202,396

Total employee costs

3,326,305

2,095,834

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

Depreciation

$
438,733

$
357,856

Total depreciation

438,733

357,856

21.2 Depreciation
For the year ended
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22. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF AN ASSOCIATE
Pursuant to the share transfer agreement dated July 14, 2010 and the related supplemental agreements entered on December
30, 2010, August 30, 2011 and January 30, 2012 with China Daye, 80% of the Yanxi Copper Property was disposed of, at a
total consideration of $33,333,333 (HK$259,000,000), comprising a cash consideration of $7,722,008 (HK$60,000,000) and a
convertible bonds with a principal amount of $25,611,325 (HK$199,000,000). Among the equity interest disposed, 32% was held by
the Group and the remaining 48% was held two local partners.
After deducting the cost of investments and expenses incurred in relation to the disposal, the disposal resulted in a gain of 8,151,801
for the year ended December 31, 2012.
For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Group has entered into an agreement to dispose of all its 49% equity interest in Hami
Coal Corporation, through which the Group owned a 24.49% indirect equity interest in the Balikun Coal Project in Xinjiang, China.
Pursuant to the agreement, a total consideration of approximately $31,763,192 (RMB200,000,000) was received, including the
repayment to the Group of the loans previously made for the Balikun Coal Project.
For the year ended

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

Share of net assets of an associate
Amount payable to holders of 48% equity interest of the associate,
mining licence fee and related expenses for the Yanxi Copper Property
Repayment of loans made for the Balikun Coal Project
Gain on disposal of an associate

$
976,522

$
5,216,922

24,205,010
8,151,801

17,719,519
8,826,751

Consideration from disposal

33,333,333

31,763,192

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

$
4,992
5,970

$
1,119
5,102

10,962

6,221

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

$
1,296,472
12,019
245,453

$
990,011
10,657
138,990

1,553,944

1,139,658

23. FINANCE COSTS
For the year ended
Finance charge under finance leases
Bank charges
Total finance costs

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
24.1 Key management compensation

The remuneration of key management and directors is as follows:
For the year ended
Wages, fees and other benefits
Payment to defined contribution plans
Share-based payment
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24.2 Related party transactions

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into the following
transactions with related companies:
For the year ended		
Related party relationship
Company controlled by a director
Company controlled by a director
An associate
An associate
Associates

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

$
25,411
61,967
193,203
61,611
447,468

$
25,411
274,076
60,668
-

Type of transactions
Rental income
Gain on disposal of a motor vehicle
Interest income
Share of office common expenses
Dividend income

24.3 Advances to related parties

Advances made by the Group to related parties were disclosed as amounts due from associates and deposit paid to related parties in
Notes 8 and 15 respectively.
Other than the aforementioned, there were no other significant related party transactions requiring disclosure in the consolidated
financial statements.

25. Major non-cash transaction
In August 2012, the Group together with the two local partners, disposed of an 80% equity interest of the Yanxi Copper Property to
China Daye at a total consideration of $33,333,333 (HK$259,000,000), of which $25,611,325 (HK$199,000,000) was settled by
mean of convertible bonds issued by China Daye.

26. COMMITMENTS
26.1 Capital commitments
As at			

December 31, 2012

Contract Date
Contracted Sum
		$
- Exploration services relating to the Gold Project
April 7, 2010
738,621

$
232,570

October 31, 2011

1,284,000

636,363

- Office building of the Gold Project

April 18, 2012

4,449,192

1,754,051

- Drilling and exploration services relating to the Gold Project

June 25, 2012

10,339,779

4,828,622

Total		16,811,592

7,451,606

- Mine design and related facilities of the Gold Project

26.2 Operating lease commitments

(a) The Group as lessor
The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment properties, with leases negotiated for terms ranging from
one to five years.
At the end of reporting period, the Group had total future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with its
tenants falling due as follows:
December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive

$
93,903
322,703

$
67,177
240,164

Total future minimum lease receivables

416,606

307,341

As at

(b) The Group as lessee
The Group has entered into commercial property leases on certain office premises, with leases negotiated for terms of three to nine
years.
At the end of reporting period, the Group had total future minimum lease payables under non-cancellable operating leases with its
landlords falling due as follows:
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As at

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive
After five years

$
254,186
72,003
11,435

$
239,132
346,458
9,720

Total future minimum lease payables

337,624

595,310

27. DIVIDEND PAID
In May 2012, GobiMin paid an annual dividend of CAD0.01 per share for a total amount of $607,521 (2011: $641,007) in accordance
with the Company’s dividend policy and 2011 annual performance.

28. SEGMENTED INFORMATION
The Group conducted its business as a single operating segment, being the development, exploration and exploitation of mineral
properties. It has engaged in the development of the Gold Project and other exploration projects. All mineral property interests and
capital assets were located in China.

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
All financial instruments are classified into a defined category, namely, held-to-maturity investments, held-for-trading financial assets,
loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial assets, and other financial liabilities.

29.1 Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments represents the amounts that would have been received from or paid to counterparties to settle
these instruments. The carrying amount of all financial instruments classified as current approximates their fair value because of the
short maturities and normal trade terms of these instruments. The fair value of other financial instruments disclosed in the financial
statements are based on the Company’s best estimates using present value, quoted market prices and other valuation techniques
that are significantly affected by the assumptions used concerning the amounts and timing of estimated cash flows and discount rates
which reflect varying degrees of risk.
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value hierarchy:
Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.
Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly, including:
•

Quoted prices for similar assets/liabilities in active markets;

•

Quoted prices for identical or similar assets in non-active markets (few transactions, limited information, non-current
prices, high variability over time);

•

Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset/liability (e.g interest rates, yield curves, volatilities,
default rates, etc.); and

•

Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by other observable market data.

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that cannot be corroborated by observable market data.
Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Data Using

December 31, 2012
Convertible bonds
Listed debentures
Available-for-sale financial asset

December 31, 2011
Convertible bonds
Listed debentures
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Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

$

$

$

$

1,035,190
-

3,333,333

26,620,721
-

26,620,721
1,035,190
3,333,333

1,035,190

3,333,333

26,620,721

30,989,244

829,420

-

13,068,740
-

13,068,740
829,420

829,420

-

13,068,740

13,898,160
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29.2 Risks arising from financial instruments and risk management

The Group is exposed to various types of market risks, including changes in foreign exchange rates, and interest rates in the normal
course of business. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on mitigating these risks on a cost-effective basis. The
Group’s policy is to use derivatives only for managing existing financial exposures but not for trading or speculative purpose.

29.3 Exchange Rate Risk

The Group generates revenues and incurs expenditures primarily in Canada, Hong Kong and China and is exposed to risk from
changes in foreign currency rates. In addition, the Group holds financial assets and liabilities in foreign currencies that expose the
Group to foreign exchange risks. A significant change in the currency exchange rates between the United States dollars relative to the
Hong Kong dollars, RMB or Canadian dollars could have an effect on the Group’s financial position and cash flows. The Group has not
hedged its exposure to currency fluctuations.
Many foreign currency exchange transactions involving RMB, including foreign exchange transactions under the Group’s capital
account, are subject to foreign exchange controls and require the approval of the China State Administration of Foreign Exchange.
Developments relating to the Chinese’s economy and actions taken by the China government could cause future foreign exchange
rates to vary significantly from current or historical rates. The Group cannot predict nor give any assurance of its future stability. Future
fluctuations in exchange rates may adversely affect the value, translated or converted into United States dollars of the Group’s net
assets, net profits and any declared dividends. The Group cannot give any assurance that any future movements in the exchange
rates of RMB against the United States dollars and other foreign currencies will not adversely affect its results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows.
The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s profit after income tax and retained profits and other components
of consolidated equity in response to reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant
exposure at the end of reporting period. No sensitivity analysis is carried out in respect of balances denominated in Hong Kong dollars
as the exchange rate between United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars is pegged. The sensitivity analysis includes balances
between group companies where the denomination of the balances is in a currency other than the functional currencies of the lender
or the borrower.
2012

The Group

Increase/
(decrease)
in foreign
exchange
rate

2011

Increase/			
Decrease/
(decrease)
		(Increase)
Increase/
in loss for
in profit for
Effect on
the year
other
(decrease)
the year
in foreign
and retained
and retained
components
profits
profits
of equity exchange rate

		
USD
USD		USD
5%
67,420
5%
RMB
(3,225,034)
89,976
(5%)
(67,420)
(5%)
3,225,034
(89,976)
CAD

1%
(1%)

(213,488)
213,488

-

1%
(1%)

766
(766)

Effect on
other
components
of equity
USD
-

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the end of the
reporting period and had been applied to each of the group entities; exposure to currency risk for both derivative and non-derivative
financial instruments in existence at that date, and that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.
The stated changes represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates over the period until
the next annual reporting date. In this respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong Kong dollars and the United States
dollars would be materially unaffected by any changes in movement in value of the United States dollars against other currencies.
Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent an aggregation of the effects on each of the group entities’ profit/(loss)
for the year and equity measured in the respective functional currencies, translated into United States dollars at the exchange rate
ruling at the end of reporting period for presentation purposes. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2011.

29.4 Credit Risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk with respect to cash equivalents, other receivables, amounts due from investee companies,
amounts due from related parties and other financial assets. The maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these assets
included on the consolidated statements of financial position. There is a concentration of credit risk arising from the convertible bonds
received on disposal of the Yanxi Copper Property stated at $26,620,721 as at December 31, 2012. Management believes that the
risk of credit loss on the convertible bonds is minimal as the issuer of the convertible bonds is a Hong Kong listed company. The cash
equivalents are call deposits at banks or time deposit of terms less than 90 days. None of the cash equivalents are in asset backed
commercial paper products. The Group has deposited the cash equivalents in banks that meet minimum requirements for quality and
liquidity as stipulated by the Company’s Board of Directors. Management believes the risk of loss to be remote.
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29.5 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may encounter difficulties in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. As at
December 31, 2012, the Group was holding cash and cash equivalents of $46,608,027. The Group has determined that its cash and
cash equivalents is more than sufficient to fund its requirements for investments in working capital and capital assets for 2013. The
financial liabilities of $33,246,467 (2011 restated: $23,286,014) are due within one year.
		
		
Other payables, receipts in
Carrying
advance and accrued liabilities
amount
As at December 31, 2012

Total		
contractual		
undiscounted Within 1 year or
cash flows
on demand

More than
1 year but
less than
2 years

More than
2 years but
less than
5 years

$
33,246,467

$
33,249,828

$
33,216,862

$
32,966

$
-

23,286,014

23,294,367

23,207,832

86,535

-

As at December 31, 2011 (Restated)

29.6 Interest Risk

As the Group has no significant variable interest-bearing assets and liabilities, the Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest rate.

30. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Group’s objectives of capital management are intended to safeguard the entity’s ability to support the Group’s normal operating
requirement on an ongoing basis, continue the development, exploration and exploitation of its mineral properties, and support any
expansionary plans. The capital of the Group amounted to $87,804,138 consists of the items included in shareholders’ equity. The
Board of Directors does not establish a quantitative return on capital criteria for management but promotes year-over-year sustainable
earnings growth targets. The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.
The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

31. EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR END DATE
31.1 On January 16, 2013, GobiMin announced that it intended to renew its normal course issuer bid to repurchase on the TSX
Venture Exchange up to an additional 2,973,324 common shares, representing approximately 5% of the then common shares
outstanding. Purchases are expected to be made in accordance with applicable regulations over a maximum period of 12
months ending January 31, 2014. As of May 16, 2013, a total of 250,000 common shares were repurchased at an aggregate
cost of $134,521 (CAD136,810). All shares repurchased will be returned to treasury for cancellation .
31.2 On March 7, 2013, GobiMin announced that its wholly owned subsidiary has entered into a provisional agreement (the “PA”)
to acquire an office property in Hong Kong (the “Acquisition”) from an independent third party (the “Vendor”) together with
the existing tenancy with a rental income of $13,630 (HK$106,000) per month to be received up to March 31, 2014. The
total consideration of the Acquisition is $6,048,906 (HK$47,000,000). An initial deposit of $257,400 (HK$2,000,000) was
paid upon signing of the PA. A further deposit of $347,490 (HK$2,700,000) was paid on March 12, 2013. The Acquisition will
be completed by the end of June 2013 when the balance of the consideration of $5,444,015 (HK$42,300,000) will become
payable. The office property will be used by the Group to operate its business.
31.3 On May 16, 2013, GobiMin declared an annual dividend of $0.01 (CAD0.01) per share in accordance with its dividend policy
and the 2012 performance. The dividend will be payable on June 24, 2013 to shareholders of record on May 29, 2013.
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Certain statements included in this Annual Report constitute forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements
can often, but not always, be identified by the use of words such as “can”, “could”, “believe”, “propose”, “anticipate”, “intend”,
“consider”, “estimate”, “expect”, or other variations of such expressions, or forward-looking statements may declare that
certain measures, events or results “can”, “could” or “will” be taken or occur or be attained. Such forward-looking statements
involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties as well as other factors that could cause actual results, performances or
achievements of the Company to differ materially from the future results, performances or achievements implied or suggested
in such forward-looking statements. Such risks, uncertainties and other factors include but are not limited to the risk factors
discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis. Accordingly, shareholders are
cautioned not to put undue reliance on forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are made as of the
date of this Annual Report and the Company disclaims any obligations to update any forward-looking statements in order
to account for any events or circumstances that might occur after the date that such forward-looking statements were
established.
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